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Our Governance Model

Main Roads governance approach directs and manages our business activities 
to optimise performance, achieve regulatory compliance and deliver value for 
customers aligned to values-driven management. 

Our governance model shows the relationships between our Minister, Commissioner and Corporate Executive 
supported by sub-committees.
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Our Legislation
The Main Roads Act 1930, as amended, establishes the Commissioner of Main Roads as a corporate body and 
sets out the powers and duties of the office.

Additional Western Australian legislation guiding and empowering Main Roads includes:
•	 Land Administration Act 1997 providing powers for resumption of and entry onto land
•	 Section 131 (Liability for damage to road infrastructure) of the Road Traffic (Administration) Act 2008
•	 Regulation 297 of the Road Traffic Code 2000 providing the Commissioner with the power to erect road signs 

and traffic signals, and install road marking
•	 Section 40 of the Road Traffic (Vehicles) Act 2012 providing the Commissioner with the authority to give an 

access approval for a complying restricted access vehicle to be on a road
•	 Section 33 of the Road Traffic (Vehicles) Act 2012 providing the Commissioner with the authority to modify a 

mass or dimension requirement, as provided in the Regulations.

We have processes and controls in place ensuring our compliance with other State and Commonwealth 
legislation and regulations impacting on our activities.
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Our Commitment
In reviewing and considering our own corporate governance practices we consider the Public Sector 
Commission Guidelines as well as the application of ASX Corporate Governance Council principles within our 
own operating context. This table reflects the new ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Governance Principles 
and Recommendations 4th Edition released in February 2019. It provides a summary of our commitment against 
each of these principles which is further enhanced throughout the report.

PSC Governance Principles ASX Governance Principles Our Commitment

1. Government and public sector 
relationship – The organisation’s 
relationship with the government is clear

We have structures in place to ensure 
clear lines of communication with the 
Minister for Transport, our portfolio 
partners and other government 
agencies including the capture and 
reporting of interactions.

2. Management and oversight – The 
organisation’s management and oversight 
is accountable and has clearly defined 
responsibilities

1. Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight 
– A listed entity should clearly 
delineate the respective roles and 
responsibilities of its board and 
management and regularly review 
their performance.

Keeping WA Moving clearly outlines our 
Aspiration, Strategic Areas of Focus, 
Guiding Principles and Values. Our 
Corporate Executive has a Charter and 
Performance Agreements are in place 
across the organisation at all levels.

3. Organisational structure – The 
organisation’s structure serves its 
operations

2. Structure the board to add 
value – A listed entity should 
have a board of an appropriate 
size, composition, skills and 
commitment to enable it to 
discharge its duties effectively.

Corporate Executive is our main 
governance body, it is made up of 
the leader from each directorate 
and is supported by a number of 
subcommittees. Details of their roles 
and achievements are included in this 
report including performance reporting.

4. Operations – The organisation plans 
its operations to achieve its goals

Our Business Planning and reporting 
process ensures that our activities 
are aligned to our strategic plan and 
achieving the outcomes for each of our 
services.

5. Ethics and integrity – Ethics 
and integrity are embedded in the 
organisation’s values and operations

3. Instil a culture of action 
lawfully, ethically and 
responsibly – A listed entity 
should instil and continually 
reinforce a culture across the 
organisation of acting lawfully, 
ethically and responsibly.

Our Integrity Framework and Code 
of Conduct ensure our commitment 
to professional behaviours that are 
consistent with our values and guiding 
principles. These are included in all 
inductions for new employees and 
contractors into the business.

6. People – The organisation’s leadership 
in people management contributes 
to individual and organisational 
achievements

Workforce planning across the portfolio 
is a high priority and we invest in leaders 
who will genuinely challenge the status 
quo. A culture of diversity and inclusion 
is actively promoted and supported.

7. Finance – The organisation safeguards 
financial integrity and accountability

4. Safeguard the integrity or 
corporate reports – A listed 
entity should have appropriate 
processes to verify the integrity of 
its corporate reports.

Financial integrity is achieved through 
our Financial Management Manual, 
Internal Audit Charter and internal 
processes. The Budget Committee 
reviews and manages our financial 
performance on a monthly basis.
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PSC Governance Principles ASX Governance Principles Our Commitment

8. Communication – The organisation 
communicates with all parties in a way 
that is accessible, open and responsive

5. Make timely and balanced 
disclosure – A listed entity 
should make timely and 
balanced disclosure of all matters 
concerning it that a reasonable 
person would expect to have a 
material effect on the price or 
value of its securities.

To provide consistent communications 
and services of value we work with 
the community and our customers 
by understanding their needs. We 
have high levels of engagement in 
conventional, digital and social media 
and have strong customer complaint 
handling procedures in place including 
Freedom of Information and PID.

9. Risk management – The organisation 
identifies and manages its risks

7. Recognise and manage risk 
– A listed entity should establish 
a sound risk management 
framework and periodically 
review the effectiveness of that 
framework.

Our Risk Management process is a 
part of our integrated annual business 
planning process. We work closely 
with our portfolio colleagues to ensure 
consistency and tracking of high priority 
risks.

Note: ASX Principle 6 – Respect the rights of security holders and Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
are not appropriate in the context of a Statutory Authority such as Main Roads and are excluded from the table.
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Governing Bodies

Corporate Executive
Corporate Executive is our peak decision-making body. Its objective is to ‘set clear strategic direction to deliver 
government priorities, meet our aspiration, purpose and achieve agreed performance goals’. It has a charter 
that identifies its role, outcomes and responsibilities.

A profile of each member of the Corporate Executive is included in the Leadership section of this report.

The Managing Director has a performance agreement with the Commissioner, while all members of Corporate 
Executive have performance agreements with the Managing Director.

            

Some of the key focus areas of Corporate Executive during the past year included:

•	 Monitor delivery of critical projects and meet performance targets
•	 Oversee the identification of and monitor treatment actions against risks classified as being very high and high
•	 Embed and champion the engagement of Aboriginal people and businesses through our contracting activities
•	 Review and refresh the Keeping WA Moving strategic direction
•	 Monitor the deployment of activities through the Corporate Business Plan
•	 Review and promote activities to mitigate the risk of cyber-crime
•	 Oversee the deployment of the new maintenance contracting regime

Main Roads has five executive committees capably and professionally supporting our Corporate Executive.

Management Review and Audit Committee
This committee ensures appropriate management practices and controls are in place, leading to efficient and 
effective business performance. It provides independent, objective assurance and advice and reports on a 
quarterly basis.

      

Role
•	 Assists the Commissioner of Main Roads, the Managing Director and Corporate 

Executive to ensure that adequate management practices and controls are 
developed and maintained by all levels of management

•	 Considers audits and reviews of the Management Review and Audit Branch
•	 Ensures audits and reviews are in accordance with the Annual Audit Plan
•	 Reviews and approves the Annual Audit Plan

Executive Members:
Peter Woronzow (Chair)
Philip D’Souza
Doug Morgan

Some of the key focus areas of the committee during the past year included:

•	 Comprehensive risk-based and strategic Annual Audit Plan for 2018–19 was approved
•	 Twenty-six internal audits were monitored and approved
•	 Quarterly audit progress reports were discussed and approved
•	 Quarterly status reports of audit findings were monitored and approved
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Budget Committee
This committee meets monthly with the objective of ensuring financial management oversight and best use of 
funds to achieve our strategic outcomes.

      

Role
•	 Peak decision-making body for Financial and Budget Management, 

Investment Planning, Program Development and Delivery
•	 Accountability for
-	 Investment Planning
-	 Program Development
-	 Annual finance and budget performance

Executive Members:
Peter Woronzow 
(Chair)
Philip D’Souza
Doug Morgan
Leo Coci
Des Snook

John Erceg
Tony Earl
Alan Colegate
Neville Willey

Some of the key focus areas of the committee during the past year included:

•	 Future Roads Project (Urban) – Administrative Road Classification Process and Criteria
•	 Findings and recommendations in relation to the amended criteria for determining administration of roads (State or 

Local Government) within built up areas
•	 Oversight of Major Project Contract Savings and the Management of Contract / Project Contingency to comply with 

Treasury Instructions (TI 813 Variances in Capital Expenditure)
•	 Oversight and governance of the agency’s financial outcomes and ensure the outcomes stay within the financial target 

as set in the agency’s Resource Agreement
•	 Oversight of the temporary personnel expenditures and the agency’s salary expenditure limit
•	 Governance and provision of direction for Future Asset Investment Program including: the Investment Planning 

Cycle; sound Business Case Strategy; successful negotiation strategy with our external funding providers, that is, 
Commonwealth Government; Royalties for Regions; and the Western Australia Police Force; Road Safety Commission

•	 Identify risk and opportunities in the scope of investment planning, program development and project delivery

Corporate Safety, Health and Wellbeing Committee
This committee is part of the high-level governance arrangement reflecting the importance we place on 
the safety of our workforce; the committee is chaired by the Executive Director Human Resources. It also 
includes the Safety, Health and Wellbeing Manager and Manager Communities of Expertise along with safety 
representatives from each Directorate.

      

Role
•	 Presides over safety, health and wellbeing issues from high-level 

strategy to reviews of individual incidents
•	 Acts as a primary occupational safety and health governance channel 

and reports to Corporate Executive on full-time and contracted 
employees

Executive Members:
Des Snook
John Erceg
Tony Earl
Alan Colegate

Neville Willey
Philip D’Souza
Doug Morgan
Leo Coci

Some of the key focus areas of the committee during the past year included:

•	 Review Main Roads and Contractor serious incidents – ensure timely reporting of incidents
•	 Endorsed Main Roads to gain ISO 45001:2018 accreditation
•	 Advise senior management of WorkSafe improvement notifications and reporting of serious incidents
•	 Endorse Critical Risk Project
•	 Review 2018-19 action plan of the three-year strategy
•	 Endorsed the Alcohol and Drugs Policy and Procedure
•	 Endorsed the two-day Safety, Health and Wellbeing Forum
•	 Review of corporate key performance indicators dashboard
•	 Update senior management on wellbeing initiatives
•	 Advise senior management of innovation and technology

More information on our health and safety activities is included in the Safety, Health and Wellbeing section.
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Asset Management Committee
The objective of this committee is to guide the development, implementation and operation of our Asset 
Management System to meet the needs of our strategic direction.

    

Role
•	 Implement a system that delivers cost effective, sustainable, systematic and 

coordinated management of our assets across the asset management lifecycle
•	 Ensure that responsibility for asset management activities is assigned and we have 

appropriate skills
•	 Ensure that the information flow of asset risks, criticality and value for financial 

planning and reporting is in place
•	 Deliver the Strategic Asset Management Plan and Asset Management Plans
•	 Seek integration with other corporate and portfolio processes and systems
•	 Coordinate activities to respond to external drivers

Executive Members:
John Erceg (Chair)
Doug Morgan
Des Snook
Philip D’Souza

Some of the key focus areas of the committee during the past year included:

•	 Undertook a maturity assessment of our asset management processes and systems to inform refinements required to 
the existing Road Map to achieve an Asset Management System aligned with requirements of ISO 55001

•	 Continued review of each region’s road maintenance Ten-Year Network Delivery Plan to ensure accuracy and 
consistency across the state

•	 Continued development of our Pavement Asset Management Plan including an interim program
•	 Obtained endorsement of our State-Wide Road Maintenance Management Plan
•	 Completed first draft of all our Route Development and Management Plans including verification of geometry and ‘fit 

for purpose’ standards
•	 Continued development of training initiatives and implementation of mentoring within the regions
•	 Refined the generic deterioration model to reflect local conditions through the review of historical condition data

Investment Committee
This committee is the peak decision-making body for strategic network development strategy and investment 
planning, and for overseeing development of the Ten-Year Investment Plan.

    

Role
•	 Review and endorse the long-term Network Development Strategy and Plan (20 

Year Horizon)
•	 Establish the investment focus and link organisational strategic objectives with 

outcomes that address defined needs and problems
•	 Review and endorse the Ten-Year Investment Plan
•	 Review and endorse project priorities for the annual Investment Planning and 

Budget cycle
•	 Approve the allocation of definition and development funding

Executive Members:
Doug Morgan (Chair)
Philip D’Souza
Tony Earl
Leo Coci
Des Snook
John Erceg

Some of the key focus areas of the committee during the past year included:

•	 Continued strategic oversight of high-priority projects, and reporting to the Minister for Transport, for consideration 
in the state budget process and for submission to Infrastructure Australia for consideration for inclusion in the 
Infrastructure Priority List

•	 Endorsement of all major and complex project scopes as part of the new requirements associated with the Budget and 
Investment Planning Framework

•	 Endorsement of the 2019–2020 Strategic Asset Plan
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Risk Management
Risk is inherent in everything we do; risk management is a continuous function affecting all facets of our 
lives and is something we act upon either consciously or subconsciously. From an organisational viewpoint, 
systematic management of risk is crucial at all levels whether it be from a strategic viewpoint or in our day-to-
day operations.

Our risk management approach aligns with the context within which we operate, taking account of regulatory, 
financial, safety, political and economic compliance requirements; reputational exposures; community 
expectations; and other governance needs. We adopt AS/NZS 31000: 2009 Risk Management – Principles and 
Guidelines Standard as our approach for managing risk.

Portfolio-wide Risk Management Policy
We have continued to adopt the Portfolio-wide Risk Management Policy. This policy was developed in 2018 in 
collaboration with our portfolio partners and approved by the Corporate Executive and Transport Portfolio 
Governance Council. A single approach allows for consistency and tracking of high-level risk assessment and 
prioritisation across the three agencies.

Corporate Risk Management
Main Roads’ corporate strategic risk assessment is embedded in the corporate business planning process. This 
enables resources to be spent on risk management as opposed to risk administration. Corporate strategic risk 
workshops for all Main Roads directorates and the Corporate Executive are run every year.

Project Risk Management
Project risk management at Main Roads is embedded in our project management tools, methodologies and 
the Enterprise Project Management system. Through risk management workshops at the commencement of 
projects and quality audits during projects, we ensure that the correct reviews and controls are in place. Any 
high project risks are escalated appropriately to the Corporate Executive on a monthly basis.

This diagram outlines the annual risk process.

Individual Directorate
Risk Workshop

Operational Risks for
upcoming year

Treatment Plans

An output is a risk
management register

for on-going use by
business areas

Strategic Risks for
future years

Consolidated themes from all
Directorate Risk Workshops
to the Corporate Executive

Risk Workshop

Corporate Strategic
Risk Workshop:

Identify strategic risks
and assign to

executive

Corporate Business
Planning Process

Input into
following year

Directorate Risk
Workshops and
Business Plans

RISK PROCESS

Risk Workshop Focus on upcoming year Focus on future years

ONGOING MANAGEMENT VIA RISK REGISTER FROM THE WORKSHOP

Risk Register

Individual Directorate
Business Plans

Validate actions

Aligning strategic /
operational risk
treatment plans and
business plans/actions

Create actions if
required

Updated with risks identified and assessed (rated) at risk workshops

Update with Risk treatment Plans (or referenced to the Business Plan as appropriate)

Kept up-to-date and managed through the year



100Main Roads Annual Report 2019

The following table shows our principal risks and opportunities identified last year, aligned against material 
issues.

Risk Theme Material Issues Key Resources Impacted

Strategic Alignment
•	 Failure to embed new operating models to 

achieve strategic objectives

Good public policy

Procurement practices

Labour Management Relations

    

Outcomes
•	 Failure to coordinate and implement key 

infrastructure projects
•	 Inability to improve congestion management 

outcomes
•	 Inability to identify and adopt emerging 

technologies

Road safety

Congestion and freight 
productivity

Regional presence and 
development

Indigenous heritage and native 
title

Value for money

Customer Privacy

Climate Change

Energy and Emissions

Biodiversity

     

    

Capability
•	 Inadequate strategic asset management 

approach
•	 Inability to optimise funding opportunities
•	 Failure to build and retain the skills and 

capabilities to meet objectives and changing 
needs

•	 Failure to effectively embed a culture that 
enables adaptability to changes

Congestion and freight 
productivity

Regional presence and 
development

Value for money

      

Communication
•	 Ineffective engagement with stakeholders

Local communities

Good public policy        

A key component of our risk management framework is the facilitation of regular risk review workshops for 
corporate and key business areas.
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Additional Governance Disclosures

Delegation of Authority
Our Delegation of Authority Manual outlines 
administrative responsibilities for officers and 
their authority to carry out day-to-day tasks. The 
Delegation of Authority is in accordance with the 
amended Main Roads Act 1930 (WA) and the principle 
of public administration set out in section 7(d) of 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994. Employees 
are aware that delegation limits are specified in the 
Delegation of Authority Manual and that they must 
not be exceeded.

Ministerial Directives
There were no directives issued by the Minister for 
Transport under section 19(b) of the Main Roads Act 
1930 (WA), as amended, during the year.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 gives the public 
a general right to apply for access to documents 
held by government agencies. An information 
statement has been produced in accordance with the 
requirements of the Freedom of Information (FOI) 
Act and is available on our website. This statement 
provides a guide on how to apply for access to 
documents, as well as information about documents 
that may be available outside of the FOI process. 
During the year, we received 37 FOI applications.  
FOI enquiries can be emailed to: foi@mainroads.
wa.gov.au.

Integrity Framework
Main Roads’ Integrity Framework represents our 
commitment to effective fraud and corruption risk 
management and the promotion of a culture of 
integrity. The framework consolidates and clarifies 
policies and processes in relation to fraud and 
corruption, gifts and benefits, conflict of interest, 
lobbyists, and misconduct. Features of the Integrity 
Framework include biennial fraud and corruption 
risk workshops, a detection program, and increased 
transparency through a central fraud and corruption 
incident register. The framework was developed in 
a consultative fashion and is aligned with Australian 
Standard 8001. The Integrity Framework is available 
to all employees via the iRoads intranet site.

Corruption Prevention
We have detection activities and strategic controls 
in place to prevent the misappropriation of funds 
and inappropriate use of public property including 
a comprehensive Annual Audit Plan, Detection 
Plan and Fraud and Corruption Risk Management 
Cycle. Our Integrity Framework clearly sets out the 
relevant policies and obligations for all employees 
with respect to preventing, mitigating and reporting 
instances of fraud and corruption.

Conduct and Ethics
All employees are expected to abide by the 
Public Sector Code of Ethics, Main Roads’ Code 
of Conduct and Main Roads’ Values and Integrity 
Framework. When a complaint or a report of alleged 
inappropriate behaviour or misconduct is received, 
management is required to act by undertaking 
an initial review of the information or complaint. 
The outcome of this review determines the most 
appropriate action, which may include:
•	 discipline
•	 grievance resolution
•	 performance management
•	 Corruption and Crime Commission procedures
•	 improvement actions.

Customer Privacy
Main Roads, as with all Western Australian 
Government agencies, is not subject to the Privacy 
Act 1988 (Cwlth) and to date we do not have an 
equivalent statute. However, where possible, we 
adhere to the Australian Privacy Principles set out in 
Schedule 1 of the Privacy Act.

We value the privacy of our customers, however 
some of our activities may be of concern to them. 
These include the data or personal information we 
may collect through our website, communications, 
surveys, permits or through technologies deployed to 
the road network such as CCTV cameras or Bluetooth 
detectors.

Main Roads complies with the CCTV Usage Policy 
which outlines appropriate use of CCTV. The main 
purposes for this usage within our Road Network 
Operations Centre include traffic management, 
enforcement, engineering and safety and security.
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The list of incidents and scenes that CCTV should not 
be used for viewing include private property, open 
public places, individuals’ faces and bodies, close 
up scenes where there are injured parties present 
(unless at the request of the Emergency Services), 
items involving personal identification or for personal 
purposes that do not support business activities. 
Main Roads does not automatically record its CCTV 
cameras but can do so in a limited way for training 
purposes or if requested by Emergency Services.

We also operate in accordance with the Surveillance 
Devices Regulations 1999. We use a commercially 
available off-the-shelf system to anonymously collect 
traffic data from Bluetooth-enabled devices in 
passing vehicles using sensors installed at signalised 
intersections and selected locations on freeways. 
The Media Access Control address collected from 
the sensors is replaced with randomly generated 
identification numbers, which is then used to 
derive travel times and monitor performance of the 
road network. This data cannot identify individual 
vehicles or people. Our external website has further 
information on our privacy policy.

Public Interest Disclosures
We are committed to the aims and objectives of the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003. We recognise the 
value and importance of contributions by staff to 
enhance administrative and management practices 
and strongly support disclosures being made by 
staff regarding improper conduct. The Public Interest 
Disclosure Guidelines are available online for all staff.

Conflicts of Interest
Our Code of Conduct and Integrity Framework 
requires all employees to ensure our personal, 
financial and political interests do not conflict with 
our performance or ability to perform in an impartial 
manner. Where a conflict of interest occurs, it should 
always be resolved in favour of the public interest 
rather than personal interest.

We consider conflict of interest to include:
•	 decisions that are biased, as a result of outside 

activities or private employment
•	 outside activities resulting in less than satisfactory 

work performance or causing breaches of 
standards such as those relating to occupational 
safety and health

•	 use of information for private gain when the 
information was acquired through official 
employment

•	 use of government resources for private gain
•	 use of government time to pursue private interests

•	 acceptance of gifts or benefits
•	 disclosure of confidential information obtained 

during the course of duty
•	 breach of ethics
•	 favours granted or received for advantage 

including political, status, relationship, personal or 
business advantage

•	 actions jeopardising government and Main Roads’ 
policies and procedures

•	 actions placing Main Roads at risk.

Each Corporate Executive member signs a 
representation memorandum addressed to the 
Managing Director including a section on personal 
interests in our contracts. The Chief Finance Officer, 
Managing Director and Accountable Authority then 
sign a Management Representation letter to the 
Auditor General addressing categories including 
Internal Controls and Risk Management.

Other than usual contracts of employment of service, 
no senior officers, firms of which senior officers are 
members or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or 
proposed contracts with us during the financial year.

Acceptance of Gifts and Benefits
Our Integrity Framework states that Main Roads 
employees and contract personnel engaged by Main 
Roads must not:
•	 be influenced, or perceived to be influenced, by the 

offer or receipt of gifts or benefits
•	 engage in actions where a conflict of interest, or 

perceived conflict, arises in the course of their duty 
or contract obligations.

Where a Conflict of Interest, whether actual, potential 
or perceived, has been identified strict procedures 
including declaration to the Manager Legal and 
Insurance Services (MLIS) must be adhered. We also 
have a Conflict of Interest and Gifts and Benefits 
register, maintained by the MLIS.

Business Continuity Management
The Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2015–03 
and Treasurer’s Instruction 825 (Risk Management 
and Security) require agencies to ensure Business 
Continuity Plans are in place enabling the agency 
to respond to, and recover from, any business 
disruption. To ensure compliance, the Legal and 
Commercial Services branch works collaboratively 
across Main Roads to develop, maintain and test 
Business Continuity Action Plans. Business Continuity 
Management supports the values, principles and 
corporate focus of the agency’s Risk Management 
Policy.
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Benefits include:
•	 increasing ability to minimise the consequences of 

any outage
•	 ensuring timely resumption of vital services
•	 providing greater protection of agency reputation 

and public image
•	 allocating and using assets, finances and resources 

effectively and efficiently
•	 ensuring good corporate governance.

All Main Roads branches and directorates in the Perth 
Metropolitan area have a Business Continuity Action 
Plan in place and function within an overarching 
Business Continuity Management Procedure.

Integrated Management System
Our Integrated Management System (IMS) brings 
together our third-party certified systems and 
processes into a single framework. This system has 
been certified under the Quality, Environment and 
Occupational Health and Safety Standards for a 
number of years and provides:
•	 consistency in how we plan and manage projects, 

contracts, supply, environment, and occupational 
health and safety

•	 clarification of roles and responsibilities
•	 alignment of our processes, procedures and 

policies with our business activities
•	 a culture of continuous improvement.

During the year we undertook a re-certification 
audit of our IMS, confirming we continue to comply 
with requirements of International and Australian 
Standards and consequently received certification for 
a further three years.

In addition, Main Roads successfully achieved 
certification to the new International Standard 
ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System.

Current Certification

Standard Processes

ISO 9001:2015 Quality 
Management Systems

Project Management

Contract Management

Supply

Corporate

ISO 14001:2015 
Environmental Management 
Systems

Environmental

AS/NZS 4801:2001 
Occupational Health and 
Safety Management Systems

Occupational Health 
and Safety

ISO 45001:2018 Occupational 
Health and Safety 
Management Systems

Occupational Health 
and Safety
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Statement of Certification
Key Performance Indicators
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Commissioner of Main Roads performance and fairly represent the 
performance of the Commissioner of Main Roads for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.

Financial Statements
The accompanying financial statements of the Commissioner of Main Roads have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 (WA) from proper accounts and records to present 
fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 and the financial position as at  
30 June 2019.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in 
the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Philip D’Souza
A/CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

15 August 2019

	

Peter Woronzow	 Richard Sellers
MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MAIN ROADS	 ACCOUNTABLE AUTHORITY

15 August 2019	 15 August 2019
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Auditor General’s Opinion
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Performance Measures

Introduction
Reliable and accessible transport infrastructure is a cornerstone for socioeconomic progress. It enables 
productivity, growth, shortens travel times and costs, creates jobs, and connects different parts of society. One 
way to determine if the services delivered by transport agencies contribute towards this outcome is through 
timely accurate and meaningful performance information.

Done well, this information assists in improving accountability and transparency and aids in our decision-
making. We use performance measurements to gain insight into, and make judgements about, the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the services we provide to society.

We measure our progress in meeting strategic goals and outcomes and use that to drive improvements and 
determine the success, or failure, derived from the delivery of our services into positive societal outcomes. Our 
measures support decision making by:
•	 providing guidance and direction on how efficient and effective we are
•	 indicating where improvements might be necessary
•	 identifying potential areas of risk
•	 determining if our customers are satisfied
•	 measuring our success in delivering agreed Government goals and outcomes.

Our performance measures are integrated within a monthly evaluation and reporting process that is reviewed 
by our Corporate Executive Leadership team.

Alignment with Government Goals
Main Roads contributes towards the achievement of three broad goals identified by the Western Australian 
Government. We achieve the delivery of these goals through a service based outcome approach. We have six 
services that drive our outcome in order to achieve the delivery of transport and road related services to our 
customers on behalf of the Government. This table illustrates that relationship.

Main Roads Government Goals

Service Outcome

Road Safety A safe road environment Strong Communities 
Safe communities and supported 
familiesInfrastructure for community 

access
Improved community access and roadside 
amenity

Infrastructure for State 
Development

Facilitate economic and regional development Future Jobs and Skills 
Grow and diversify the economy, 
create jobs and support skills 
development

Road System Management Reliable and efficient movement of people and 
goods

Better Places 
A quality environment with liveable 
and affordable communities and 
vibrant regions

Road Efficiency 
Improvements

Road Network Maintenance A well maintained road network

In this report are agreed key effectiveness indicators that measure the extent of impact and success in the 
delivery of our services against the achievement of desired outcomes. The key efficiency indicators monitor the 
relationship between the services delivered and the resources used to produce our services.
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Understanding our measures
The following information gives an overview as to the approach taken with two of the more prominent 
measures featured in this report.

Community Perception
Four of the measures are derived from an annual Community Perceptions Survey that reflects the satisfaction 
levels of our customers in metropolitan and rural areas. These measures are Community Satisfaction with Main 
Roads, Road Safety, Provision of Cycleway and Pedestrian Facilities and Road Maintenance. An external research 
company collected the data by way of an online survey.

The results are based upon a random and representative sample (age, gender and region) of 1,306 people (594 
in the metropolitan area and 712 in regional areas). When extending these results to estimate the percentage of 
satisfied Western Australians, the overall sampling error is +/ – 2.71% at the 95% confidence interval. The data 
is also weighted to reflect the actual population distribution based on ABS statistics. In each case, respondents 
had the opportunity to rate Main Roads performance as terrible, poor, okay, good or excellent in terms of road 
safety, providing cycleway and pedestrian facilities, road maintenance and overall performance. The reported 
results represent only the total of okay, good and excellent ratings.

On Time and On Cost
The delivery of infrastructure in a State that is as climatically and geologically diverse as Western Australia 
provides many challenges. Eight of our efficiency measures are based on reporting against the delivery of 
our contracts in terms of time and cost. To recognise the complexity in achieving this, and consistent with 
approaches taken in other road agencies, all reporting against these measures includes a 10% margin when 
calculating the final outcome.

A target of 90% has been established for each of the On Time and On Cost measures based on what is 
considered to be an acceptable outcome taking into account risk and the variable nature of delivering road 
contracts. A result within the target range indicates that internal processes and procedures are appropriate, 
working well and deployed. A result below the targets warrants further investigation to determine if there are 
any underlying systemic issues. There has been no changes to the approaches or methodology underpinning 
our measures this year.

Structure
The structure of this section of the report begins with a table that summarises our service outcomes and 
measures for each indicator showing the trend over time in addition to providing a comparison as to how the 
results for the current year compare against the targets established in the State Budget Papers.

The remainder of this section provides a narrative on each of the efficiency and effectiveness indicators for the 
six outcome based services.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES AND OUTCOMES

2016 2017 2018 2019 
Target

2019 
Actual

Road Safety

% Community Satisfaction of road safety 91 90 88 90 91

Black Spot location indicator 9.1 8.43 7.92 7.66 7.46

% of contracts completed on time 91 77 89 90 80

% of contracts completed on budget 87 93 92 90 100

Road Efficiency and Road System Management

% Community Satisfaction 91 87 88 90 90

Road network permitted 
for use by heavy vehicles

B Double – 27.5m % 98 97 97 97 97

Double RT – 27.5m % 97 97 97 97 97

Double RT – 36.5m % 80 80 80 80 80

Triple RT – 53.5m % 45 45 45 45 45

% Network configuration Roads 91 92 92 90 92

Bridges Strength 92 92 94 93 94

Width 96 96 96 96 96

% of contracts completed on time 98 68 83 90 100

% of contracts completed on budget 98 93 100 90 97

Average $ cost of network management per million 
vehicle km travelled

5,846 5,291 5,887 5,540 6,195

State Development

Average return on construction expenditure 4.2 3.2 3.3 3.8 4.1

% of contracts completed on time 100 40 75 90 75

% of contracts completed on budget 75 100 100 90 92

Road Maintenance

% Smooth Travel Exposure n/a 96 n/a 97 97

% Community Satisfaction road maintenance 88 84 82 90 87

% Preventative maintenance indicator 86 85 84 85 84

Average $ cost of network maintenance per lane 
kilometre of road network

9,957 9,372 9,047 6,800 9,428

Community Access

% of the year that 100% of the Main Roads’ State 
road network is available

89 92 87 95 91

% Community satisfaction with cycleways and 
pedestrian facilities

83 87 89 90 91

% of contracts completed on time 91 100 64 90 86

% of contracts completed on budget 100 100 100 90 100
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Road Safety
Outcome: Providing a safe road environment
This service seeks to reduce the State’s road fatality rate to the lowest in Australia by minimising road factors 
contributing to road trauma and reducing the serious crash injury rate. We demonstrate this through the 
following measures:

2019 Target 2019 Actual

% Community Satisfaction of road safety 90 91

Black Spot location indicator 7.66 7.46

% of contracts completed on time 90 80

% of contracts completed on budget 90 100

Effectiveness Indicators
Community Satisfaction with Road Safety
This indicator represents how satisfied the community is with Main Roads’ overall performance in area of road 
safety. The 2019 survey results show that Main Roads exceeded its target this year, with 91% of participants 
giving an okay or better rating, improving three percent on 2018. After experiencing a significant drop in results 
in 2018, both the Great Southern and Wheatbelt regions have improved this year achieving 76% and 70% 
respectively.

Black Spot Location Indicator
This indicator gives a measure of the number of locations on the road network that meet State Black Spot (high 
risk locations) criteria based on an analysis of crash history. The measure uses a sliding window to determine 
whether the number of locations eligible for funding is increasing or decreasing, considering the amount of 
travel in the State. The four-year trend continues to show a gradual decline in the number of eligible black spot 
locations with the current result once again being the lowest recorded since the implementation of the Black 
Spot program.

Efficiency Indicators
Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on time in the Road Safety Service. The result 
achieved was 80% against a target of 90%. There were five contracts that were over time, one was due to wet 
weather and minor scope changes associated with unsuitable materials, two have variations issued and as 
at 30 June 2019 had not been approved. The remaining two contracts were delayed due to contractor’s not 
completing works on time and no extensions of time were granted.

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on budget in the Road Safety Service. There are no 
contracts over budget for this Service therefore the result achieved was 100%, which is above the target of 90%.
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Efficiency and Road System Management
Outcome: Reliable and efficient movement of people and goods
The Efficiency Service seeks to improve the efficiency, capacity and utilisation of the existing road network 
whilst the Road System Management Service seeks to optimise real-time management of the network, provide 
traveller information, asset management planning and to support service delivery throughout the organisation. 
Together these services contribute to achieving the outcome. We demonstrate this through the following 
measures:

2019 Target 2019 Actual

% Community Satisfaction 90 90

Road network permitted for use by heavy vehicles B Double – 27.5m % 97 97

Double RT – 27.5m % 97 97

Double RT – 36.5m % 80 80

Triple RT – 53.5m % 45 45

% Network configuration Roads 90 92

Bridges Strength 93 94

Width 96 96

% of contracts completed on time 90 100

% of contracts completed on budget 90 97

Average $ cost of network management per million vehicle km travelled 5,540 6,195

Effectiveness Indicators
Community Satisfaction
This indicator represents how satisfied the community is with Main Roads’ overall performance in the 
management and operation of the State road network. The upward trend for this target continued in 2019 with 
90% of survey participants rating Main Roads performance as okay or better. Three regions exceeded the 90% 
target with the South West region achieving 96%. Goldfields-Esperance had the lowest overall performance 
rating of 58%.

Road Network Permitted for use by Heavy Freight Vehicles
This indicator relates to the efficient movement of goods within Western Australia and the percentage 
of available State roads accessed by the following types of vehicles B-Doubles, Double road trains and 
Triple road trains. The use of larger vehicles with heavy loads can increase the overall efficiency of freight 
transport operations, resulting in lower transport costs. However, to maintain road safety and guard against 
infrastructure damage, restrictions are placed on some trucks. Because of the relatively high efficiency of 
these vehicles, the proportion of roads accessible to them is an important factor in the overall efficiency of 
freight transport in this state. Over the past four years, the trend has remained relatively consistent with minor 
fluctuations attributed to changes in ownership of roads between state and local government.

Network Configuration – Roads
This indicator shows the percentage of travel undertaken on roads meeting specific criteria for seal width, 
carriageway width and curve rating. The indicator gives a measure of the ability of Main Roads to plan for and 
maintain roads to desirable standards. In 2019, 92% of travel was undertaken on roads meeting the seal width, 
carriageway width and curve rating criteria, which is above the target of 90% for that period. The results over 
the four-year period are relatively consistent and demonstrate that Main Roads continues to plan and program 
works to address roads that are below the criteria.
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Network Configuration – Bridges
Like the roads measure, bridges are assessed for strength and width using agreed investigatory criteria.  
The monitoring of bridge strength and width needs to ensure a safe and efficient road network relating to 
improved access and transport efficiencies. These measures are indicators for the number of bridges that 
meet, or are above, the investigatory criteria, recorded as a percentage of the total number of bridges on main 
roads and highways. Bridges that do not meet the investigatory criteria for strength or width are considered in 
assessing, scoping and prioritising works, as part of the ten-year bridge strategy.

Strength – The results of this indicator show that 94% of the bridges meet the agreed criteria for strength against 
a target of 93%.

Width – In relation to width, 96% of bridges meet the criteria against a target of 96%.

Efficiency Indicators

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on time in the Road Efficiency Service. There are 
no contracts over budget for this Service, therefore the result achieved was 100% which is above the target of 90%.

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts that were delivered on budget in the Road Efficiency 
Service. The result achieved was 97%, which is above the target of 90%. There was one contract that was over 
budget for this Service and a claim for variation is being reviewed but at the time of reporting was outstanding.

Average Cost of Network Management
This indicator measures the financial efficiency of the Road System Management program in terms of cost 
per million vehicle kilometres travelled to manage the road system. In order to compare current figures with 
previous years all figures have been adjusted and reported in terms of current year’s dollars. In respect of the 
current year, the result of $6,195 per million vehicle kilometres travelled is higher than the target of $5,540.  
This variation reflects a combination of a reduction in the total vehicle kilometres travelled that was not factored 
in when setting the target and an increased focus on addressing congestion with non built solutions.
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State Development
Outcome: Facilitating economic and regional development
This service expands the road network in accordance with State and Commonwealth transport and land use 
strategies that will facilitate the economic and regional development of the State. We demonstrate this through 
the following measures:

2019 Target 2019 Actual

Average return on construction expenditure 3.8 4.1

% of contracts completed on time 90 75

% of contracts completed on budget 90 92

Effectiveness Indicators
Return on Construction Expenditure
New roads and bridge construction adds to the capacity of the road network. Return on Construction 
Expenditure is based on Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) estimates of a set of projects undertaken each year. It 
indicates the extent to which road and bridge construction expenditure will deliver future economic benefits to 
the community. This indicator represents the expenditure weighted BCR for the State Development Service and 
Road Efficiency Service for which a BCR has been calculated. The BCR came ahead of target with an expenditure 
weighted average result of 4.1 against the target of 3.8.

Efficiency Indicators
Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on time in the State Development Service.  
The result achieved was 75%, which is below the target of 90%. There were three contracts late of which one 
was due to issues associated with delivery of infrastructure to the site, one is subject to a variation that has not 
been approved as at 30 June and the final contract remains a work in progress.

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on budget in the State Development Service. 
The result achieved was 92%, which is above the target of 90%. The one contract that was over budget had 
liquidated damages applied.
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Road Maintenance
Outcome: Providing a well maintained road network
This service seeks to maintain the existing road and bridge network by maximising asset life and minimising 
whole of life costs. We demonstrate this through the following measures:

2019 Target 2019 Actual

% Smooth Travel Exposure 97 97

% Community Satisfaction road maintenance 90 87

% Preventative maintenance indicator 85 84

Average $ cost of network maintenance per lane kilometre of road network 6,800 9,428

Effectiveness Indicators 
Community Satisfaction of Road Maintenance
This indicator represents how satisfied the community is with Main Roads’ overall performance in the 
maintenance of the State road network. 87% of survey participants rate our performance as okay or better, an 
improvement from 2018 and our highest result of the past three years. Regionally, Mid West – Gascoyne had 
the best improvement, up 15 percent from 2018 whilst Goldfields-Esperance achieved the lowest result of 37%.

Preventative Maintenance Indicator
The Preventative Maintenance Indicator provides a measure of the proportion of sealed state road network 
that has a surfacing age younger than its optimal target age. The indicator provides a measure of proactive 
maintenance undertaken on the network on an annual basis, sections of the network with a surfacing age 
younger than the target age are classified as ‘Good’. This year the analysis shows that 84% of the network is 
‘Good’, which is just below the target of 85%. The results over the four-year period remain relatively consistent.

Smooth Travel Exposure
This indicator is based on the percentage of travel undertaken on the State road network meeting specific 
roughness criteria. It is therefore an important measure of the effectiveness of road maintenance expenditure. 
In 2019, 97% of the total travel on sealed state roads was undertaken on roads that meet the roughness 
standard. There has been a steady improvement over the past four years, with the current result an 
improvement on the previous years results.

Efficiency Indicators
Average Cost of Network Maintenance per Lane Kilometre of Road Network
This indicator identifies the financial efficiency of road and roadside maintenance works by showing the cost 
per lane kilometre to maintain acceptable travel conditions on State roads. Expenditure on structures and 
infrastructure depreciation is not included when calculating the cost basis. All figures are in current year’s 
dollars, which can influence the overall trend. This year’s result shows a variance against the target with the 
result being higher than the target. Contributing factors towards this outcome include significant additional 
funding for resealing and rehabilitation works that was not known when the target was being established. As 
has occurred in previous years there was additional work from natural disasters that also was not considered 
when setting the target.
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Community Access
Outcome: Improving community access and roadside amenity
This service seeks to provide infrastructure that will increase personal mobility and community access. We 
demonstrate this through the following measures:

2019 Target 2019 Actual

% of the year that 100% of the Main Roads’ State road network is available 95 91

% Community satisfaction with cycleways and pedestrian facilities 90 91

% of contracts completed on time 90 86

% of contracts completed on budget 90 100

Effectiveness Indicators
Unplanned Road Closure on the State Road Network
Generally 100% of Main Roads Road sealed network is available to all road users; however, there are unplanned 
road closures due to a number of reasons including flooding, cyclones, bushfires and major road crashes, which 
may vary in duration. The availability of the sealed road network is measured as a percentage of calendar days 
that the whole network is available to the road user. Closure is determined by measuring the number of whole 
days (24 hours commencing from the time the road is closed) that any section of the sealed road network is 
closed. This year the road network was available 91% of the year, which is below the target of 95%.

Community Satisfaction with Cycleways and Pedestrian Facilities
This indicator represents how satisfied the community is with Main Roads’ performance in the construction, 
maintenance and management of cycleways and pedestrian facilities. 91% of survey participants rated our 
performance as okay or better this year, surpassing our target and continuing the upward trend for this 
indicator. The majority of regions maintained or improved their results with minor reductions in the Kimberley 
and Pilbara regions.

Efficiency Indicators
Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on time in the Community Access Service. The 
result achieved was 86%, which is below the target of 90%. One contract remains over time and is still a work in 
progress at the time of preparing this report.

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget
This indicator represents the percentage of contracts delivered on budget in the Community Access Service. 
There are no contracts over budget for this Service therefore the result achieved was 100% which is above the 
target of 90%.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
 2019
 $000

2018
$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expenses 3.1(a)  64,536 72,081

Supplies and services 3.3  431,321 521,297

Depreciation and impairment expense of infrastructure assets 5.2.1  373,475 343,782

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense – other 5.1.1, 5.3.1  4,606 5,296

Grants and subsidies 3.2  332,610 268,975

Other expenses 3.3  91,387 51,427

Total cost of services  1,297,935 1,262,858

Income

Revenue

Sale of goods and services 4.2  10,577 10,970

Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.3  622,697 772,639

Contributions to roadworks 4.4  70,510 108,341

Grants from other bodies 4.5  116,297 9,731

Interest revenue 4.6  4,287 6,004

Other revenue 4.7  11,883 11,300

Total revenue  836,251 918,985

Gains

Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 4.8  (1,599) (708)

Total gains  (1,599) (708)

Total income other than income from State Government  834,652 918,277

NET COST OF SERVICES  463,283 344,581

Income from State Government 4.1

Income from State Government  979,697 897,792

Services received free of charge  2,530 1,672

Other funds received from State Government  204,015 183,337

Total income from State Government  1,186,242 1,082,801

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  722,959 738,220

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 9.8  (381,883) (34,166)

Total other comprehensive income  (381,883) (34,166)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  341,076 704,054

See also note 2 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2019

Note
2019
$000

2018
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7.1  196,875  283,742

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.1  188,888  251,059

Receivables 6.1  208,714  116,822

Amounts receivable for services 6.2  31,065  38,936

Inventories 6.3  914  3,932

Prepayments 6.4  14,640  9,715

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 9.7  6,787  11,620

Total Current Assets  647,883  715,826

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 6.1  234  238

Amounts receivable for services 6.2  2,794,812  2,502,858

Inventories 6.3  6,619  5,408

Prepayments 6.4  386  367

Property, plant and equipment 5.1  405,237  426,473

Infrastructure 5.2  44,396,721  43,802,551

Intangible assets 5.3  13,668  14,828

Total Non-Current Assets  47,617,677  46,752,723

TOTAL ASSETS  48,265,560  47,468,549

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 6.5  315,323  277,315

Employee related provisions 3.1(b)  30,534  28,426

Other provisions 6.6  2,208  1,877

Total Current Liabilities  348,065  307,618

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 6.5  56,345  40,818

Employee related provisions 3.1(b)  4,937  4,925

Total Non-Current Liabilities  61,282  45,743

TOTAL LIABILITIES  409,347  353,361

NET ASSETS  47,856,213  47,115,188

EQUITY 9.8
Contributed equity  5,452,489  5,052,392

Reserves  27,254,418  27,636,301

Accumulated surplus  15,149,306  14,426,495

TOTAL EQUITY  47,856,213  47,115,188

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note

Contributed 
Equity
$000

Reserves
$000

Accumulated 
surplus/
(deficit)

$000
Total Equity

$000

Balance at 1 July 2017 9.8  4,574,692  27,670,467  13,691,101  45,936,260

Correction of errors in prior period  2,826  –  (2,826)  – 

– Surplus  –  –  738,220  738,220

– Other comprehensive income  –  (34,166)  –  (34,166)

Total comprehensive income for the 
period  2,826  (34,166)  735,394  704,054

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

– Capital appropriations  336,556  –  –  336,556

– Other contributions by owners  156,538  –  –  156,538

– Distributions to owners  (18,220)  –  –  (18,220)

Total  474,874  –  –  474,874

Balance at 30 June 2018  5,052,392  27,636,301  14,426,495  47,115,188

Balance at 1 July 2018  5,052,392  27,636,301  14,426,495  47,115,188

Changes in accounting policy 9.2  –  –  (148)  (148)

– Surplus  –  –  722,959  722,959

– Other comprehensive income  –  (381,883)  –  (381,883)

Total comprehensive income for 
the period  –  (381,883)  722,811  340,928

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

– Capital appropriations  300,579  –  –  300,579

– Other contributions by owners  143,800  –  –  143,800

– Distributions to owners  (44,282)  –  –  (44,282)

Total  400,097  –  –  400,097

Balance at 30 June 2019  5,452,489  27,254,418  15,149,306  47,856,213

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
2019
$000

2018
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  656,678  568,932

Capital appropriation  287,916  336,556

Holding account drawdown  38,936  32,300

Road Trauma Trust Fund  42,883  57,671

Natural disaster funds  53,650  97,017

Royalties for Regions Fund  69,114  138,250

Net cash provided by State Government  1,149,177  1,230,726

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits  (63,373)  (71,793)

Supplies and services  (427,669)  (519,639)

Grants and subsidies  (289,890)  (251,228)

GST payments on purchases  (170,451)  (149,346)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services  117,818  128,704

Commonwealth grants and contributions  622,698  772,639

Interest received  4,782  5,630

GST receipts on sales  16,290  20,225

GST receipts from taxation authority  153,175  128,100

Other receipts  9,357  12,745

Rent received  3,788  3,575

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 7.1.2  (23,475)  79,612

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current assets  (16,652)  (15,225)

Purchase of infrastructure assets  (1,264,488)  (1,038,819)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets  6,400  3,387

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  (1,274,740)  (1,050,657)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (149,038)  259,681

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  534,801  275,120

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 7.1.1  385,763  534,801

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2019

1 	 Basis of preparation
The Commissioner of Main Roads (Main Roads) is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western 
Australia, which is the ultimate parent. Main Roads is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not 
form part of these financial statements.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:
1) 	 The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
2) 	 The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI)
3) 	 Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable interpretations
4) 	 Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions) take precedence over AAS. Several AAS 
are modified by the Instructions to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has 
had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the 
historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where 
this is the case, the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The 
significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes 
where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can 
be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
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2 	 Agency outputs
This section includes information regarding the nature of funding Main Roads receives and how this funding is utilised to 
achieve the agency’s objectives.

Note
Agency objective 2.1
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 2.2

2.1 Agency objectives
Mission
Our aspiration is to provide world class outcomes for our customers through a safe, reliable and sustainable road-based 
transport system

Main Roads is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriation hypothecated from Motor Vehicle License Fees raised 
under the Road Traffic Act 1974. It also receives grants from the Commonwealth Government.

Services
Main Roads provides the following services:

Service 1: Infrastructure for State Development
The objective of this program is to expand the road network in accordance with Government transport and land use 
strategies that will facilitate the economic and regional development of the State.

Service 2: Road System Management
The objective of this program is to optimise real time management of the network, provide traveller information and 
support delivery of projects.

Service 3: Road Efficiency Improvements
The objective of this program is to improve the efficiency, capacity and utilisation of the existing road network.

Service 4: Road Network Maintenance
The objective of this program is to maintain the existing road and bridge network by maximising asset life and minimising 
whole of life costs.

Service 5: Road Safety
The objective of this program is to reduce the road fatality rate to be the lowest in Australia, minimise road factors 
contributing to road trauma and reduce the serious crash injury rate.

Service 6: Infrastructure for Community Access
The objective of this program is to provide infrastructure that will improve personal mobility and community access, 
including increasing the quality of access where appropriate, providing levels of access commensurate with community 
expectations and meeting minimal levels of appropriate access.
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3 	 Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how Main Roads’ funding is applied and the accounting policies that are 
relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by Main 
Roads in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

Notes
2019
$000

2018
$000

Employee benefits expenses 3.1(a)  64,536  72,081

Employee related provisions 3.1(b)  35,471  33,351

Grants and subsidies 3.2  332,610  268,975

Other expenditure 3.3  522,708  572,724

3.1(a) Employee benefits expenses

2019
$000

2018
$000

Wages and salaries  125,444  122,408

Termination benefits  261  4,137

Superannuation – defined contribution plans (a)  12,703  12,512

 138,408  139,057

Less: capitalised to infrastructure  (73,872)  (66,976)

 64,536  72,081

(a) 	Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS), Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), Government Employee 
Superannuation Board Scheme (GESBs) and other eligible funds.

Wages and salaries: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe 
benefits tax and leave entitlements.

Termination Benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee 
accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when 
Main Roads is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal 
plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in respect of the GSS is paid back into the 
Consolidated Account by the GESB.

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. It is however a defined contribution plan for Main Roads purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by Main Roads to GESB extinguishes Main Roads’ obligations to the related superannuation liability.

Main Roads does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
future benefits relating to its employees. The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer 
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Main Roads to the GESB.

The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.
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3.1(b) Employee related provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave 
for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Employee benefits provisions

Annual leave (a)  13,652  12,783

Long service leave (b)  16,598  15,310

 30,250  28,093

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c)  284  333

Total current employee related provisions  30,534  28,426

Non-current

Employee benefits provisions

Long service leave (b)  4,891  4,867

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c)  46  58

Total non-current employee related provisions  4,937  4,925

Total employee related provisions  35,471  33,351

(a)	 Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to 
occur as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  10,731  10,274

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  2,921  2,509

 13,652  12,783

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation to services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date.

(b)	 Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as Main 
Roads does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because Main Roads 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  4,042  4,225

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  17,447  15,952

 21,489  20,177
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The provision for long service leave are calculated at present value as Main Roads does not expect to wholly settle the 
amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, employee retention rates and discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely 
as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(c)	 Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future 
payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘Other expenses’, Note 3.3, and are not included as part of Main Roads’ ‘employee benefits expense’. The related 
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

Employment on-costs provision
2019
$000

2018
$000

Carrying amount at start of period  391  310

Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised  (61)  81

Carrying amount at end of period  330  391

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating Main Roads’ long service leave provision. These include:
– 	 Expected future salary rates
– 	 Discount rates
– 	 Employee retention rates; and
– 	 Expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits 
expense.

3.2 Grants and subsidies

2019
$000

2018
$000

Recurrent

Grants and subsidies to local government and other bodies (a)  296,629  263,878

Capital

Grants and subsidies to local government and other bodies  –  500

Grants of non-current assets to other bodies  35,981  4,597

Total grants and subsidies  332,610  268,975

(a) 	Include payments made to Public Transport Authority and Department of Biodiversity Conservation & Attractions

Transferred infrastructure assets at fair value to Local Government and other bodies based on formal proclamation.  
The following assets were transferred during the year ended 30 June 2019: Margaret River Perimeter Road – John Archibald 
Drive and Bridge (Augusta Margaret River Shire), Matagarup Bridge principal shared path and lighting (City of Perth & Town 
of Vic Park), Bridge over Avon River (Town of Northam), Lloyd Street (City of Swan), Bridge over Mayfield Drain (Shire of 
Waroona) and Marble Bar Road Realignment (Roy Hill Mining).

Transactions in which Main Roads provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to another party 
without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or 
capital in nature.
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Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. 
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions 
attached regarding their use.

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments 
made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local government, non-government 
schools, and community groups.

3.3 Other expenditure

2019
$000

2018
$000

Supplies and services

Insurance (a)  3,997  4,177

Accommodation, lease and plant hire charges (b)  9,578  5,914

Electricity, gas and water  9,713  9,098

Building maintenance and equipment (c)  6,555  6,809

Advertising  141  127

Communications  5,183  5,282

Consultants and contractors  370,309  467,357

Consumables  2,318  2,626

Materials  1,875  3,813

Doubtful debt expense  –  102

Expected credit losses expense (d)  (10)  – 

Other  21,662  15,992

Total supplies and services expenses  431,321  521,297
(a) 	Include payments to RiskCover

(b) 	Include payments to Department of Finance

(c) 	Include payments to Department of Finance

(d) 	Expected credit losses were not required to be measured in 2017/18

Other

Non-current assets retired/replaced  86,576  51,073

Write-down of non-current assets classified as held for sale  264  1,831

Write-(back)/down of infrastructure works in progress  4,547  (1,477)

Total other expenses  91,387  51,427

Total other expenditure  522,708  572,724

Supplies and services
Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts 
of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived 
from the leased properties.

Repairs, maintenance and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Doubtful debts expense was recognised as the movement in the allowance for doubtful debts. From 2018-19, expected 
credit losses expense is recognised as the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses. The allowance for 
expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. 
Main Roads has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Refer to note 6.1.1 Movement in the allowance for 
impairment of receivables.
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Other
Non-current assets replaced or retired: Non-current assets replaced or retired during the year have been expensed at their 
carrying amount. Projects include Great Northern Highway – Wyndham Spur and Maggie’s Jump Up and Onslow Road.

Write-down of non-current assets classified as held for sale: Non-current assets held for sale measured at lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less selling costs.

Write-down of infrastructure works in progress: This amount mainly represents the infrastructure work in progress written 
down relating to the Government decision to discontinue work on Ellenbrook Bus Rapid Transit project.

4 	 Main Roads’ funding sources
This section provides additional information about how Main Roads obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy 
notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by Main Roads and the 
relevant notes are:

Notes
2019
$000

2018
$000

Income from State Government 4.1  1,186,242  1,082,801

Sale of goods and services 4.2  10,577  10,970

Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.3  622,697  772,639

Contributions to roadworks 4.4  70,510  108,341

Grants from other bodies 4.5  116,297  9,731

Interest revenue 4.6  4,287  6,004

Other revenue 4.7  11,883  11,300

Gain/(loss) 4.8  (1,599)  (708)

4.1 Income from State Government

2019
$000

2018
$000

Appropriation received during the period:

Motor vehicle licence fees (a)  648,255  557,889

Untied funds (b)  323,019  332,019

Motor vehicle permit fees (c)  7,998  7,459

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  425  425

 979,697  897,792

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the period (d):

WA Land Information Authority (Landgate)  1,034  333

Department of Justice (State Solicitor’s Office)  1,394  1,141

WA Police Services (Road Safety Commission)  62  98

Department of Mines, Industry Regulations and Safety  –  71

Other  40  29

Total services received  2,530  1,672

Other funds received from State Government

Road Trauma Trust Fund (e)  42,809  53,020

Natural disaster funds (f)  141,408  124,189

Royalties for Regions Fund (g)  19,798  6,128

Total other funds  204,015  183,337

Total Income from State Government  1,186,242  1,082,801
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Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which Main Roads gains control of the 
appropriated funds. Main Roads gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in note 2.2). Appropriation revenue comprises the 
following:
• Cash component; and
• A receivable (asset).

The receivable (holding account – note 6.2) comprises the following:
• The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and
• Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(a) Motor vehicle licence fees
Motor vehicle licence fees for cars and light vehicles are raised under the Road Traffic Act 1974. The total licence 
fees collected in 2018-19 was $948.833 million (2017-18: $894.445 million). An amount of $648.255 million (2017-18: 
$557.889 million) was received as a service appropriation and the balance of $300.578 million (2017-18: $336.556 million) 
appropriated as a capital contribution by owners and included under ‘Contributed Equity (note 9.8)’ in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

(b) Untied funds
Untied funds are appropriations from the Consolidated Fund. The total appropriation from the Consolidated Fund in 2018-
19 was $323.019 million (2017-18: $332.019 million). This includes a service appropriation of $323.019 million (2017-18: 
$332.019 million) and no capital contribution (2017-18: nil). The service appropriation includes no cash component (2017-18: 
$3.159 million) and a $323.019 million (2017-18: $328.860 million) non cash component.

(c) Motor vehicle permit fees
The vehicle standards for dimensions and mass are prescribed under the Road Traffic (Vehicles) Regulations 2014. Under the 
regulations, a permit is required to access certain parts of the WA road network for vehicles. Main Roads charges a fee to 
issue the permits in accordance with the regulations.

(d) Services received free of charge (Non-reciprocal contributions)
Non-reciprocal contributions including Services Received Free of Charge that are not contributions by owners are recognised 
at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated.

Other funds received from State Government

(e) Road Trauma Trust Fund
Funds provided by Road Safety Commission to undertake road projects improving road safety in Western Australia. Revenue 
is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

(f) Natural disaster funds
Funds provided by the Office of Emergency Management for re-opening and re-instatement of roads damaged by declared 
natural disasters. Revenue is recognised when a claim is made to Department of Fire and Emergency Services.

(g) Royalties for Regions Fund
The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas. Royalties for Regions funds are 
recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which Main Roads obtains control over the funds. Main Roads obtains 
control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into Main Roads’ bank account.

4.2 Sale of goods and services

2019
$000

2018
$000

Sale of goods and services (a)  10,577  10,970

This amount represents works undertaken for other public and private bodies and includes the recovery of expenditure 
from the Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Cities and Regional Development under service delivery 
arrangements with the Shires of Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Island. The amounts expended or set aside for 
expenditure during 2018-19 are summarised at note 9.11 ‘Indian Ocean Territories’.

Revenue from minor works project is recognised based on percentage completed. However, revenue from the sale of goods 
and disposal of other assets is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and 
can be measured reliably.
(a) 	Includes payments received from Department of Transport and Public Transport Authority
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4.3 Commonwealth grants and contributions

2019
$000

2018
$000

Land Transport Infrastructure Projects  622,436  769,596

Interstate Road Transport Act 1985  261  3,043

 622,697  772,639

Land Transport Infrastructure Projects
Non-reciprocal grants are received from the Commonwealth Government through the National Land Transport Act 2014. The 
objective of this Act is to assist national and regional economic and social development by improving the performance of 
land transport infrastructure. Programs funded under this arrangement include the Heavy Vehicle Safety and Productivity 
and the Black Spot Program along with funding for the National Road Projects.

At 30 June 2019, $157.655 million of the National Land Transport Act 2014 grants recognised as revenue remained unspent 
on approved projects (at 30 June 2018 the amount was $206.427 million). The unspent amount is non-restricted in nature 
and disclosed under note 7.1.1 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.

At 30 June 2019, $160.433 million of the National Partnership on Infrastructure Projects in WA grants recognised as revenue 
remained unspent on approved projects (at 30 June 2018 the amount was $233.852 million). The unspent amount is 
restricted in nature and disclosed under note 7.1.1 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’.

Interstate Road Transport Act 1985
A charge is levied under the Act on interstate commercial vehicles that are exempt from State charges and the revenue 
raised is distributed in accordance with the damage attributed to interstate vehicles in each State. The revenue is non-
reciprocal in nature.

For non-reciprocal grants, revenue is recognised at fair value when Main Roads obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions, usually when cash is received.

4.4 Contributions to roadworks

2019
$000

2018
$000

Contributions to roadworks (a)  70,510  108,341

This revenue represents contributions by both public and private bodies towards the cost of works performed on highways 
and main roads. Revenue is mainly recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
(a)	 Includes payments received from Department of Jobs Tourism Science and Innovation, Department of Transport and Public Transport Authority

4.5 Grants from other bodies

2019
$000

2018
$000

Grants from local government authorities and other bodies

Transferred infrastructure assets at fair value (a)  546  426

Local Government contribution to traffic signal construction  1,069  258

Developers contribution to roadworks (b)  114,682  9,047

 116,297  9,731

(a) 	Transferred infrastructure assets at fair value are transfers from Local Government and other bodies to State 
Government based on formal proclamation. Transferred assets during the year ended 30 June 2019 include Mottram 
Perup and Graphite intersections upgrade – Shire of Manjimup Grant.

(b) 	The developers contribution to roadworks relate to construction costs met by private developers on roads owned by 
Main Roads. The roadworks include Warrida Road, Marble Bar Road realignment, Great Eastern Highway – Burswood 
Intersection, Great Northern Highway and Wodgina East Road.

Revenue is recognised at fair value when Main Roads obtains control over the assets.
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4.6 Interest revenue

2019
$000

2018
$000

Land Transport Infrastructure Projects interest revenue  4,273  5,988

Other interest revenue  14  16

 4,287  6,004

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

4.7 Other revenue

2019
$000

2018
$000

Rental income  3,797  3,566

Traffic escort services  7,020  6,200

Assets not previously recognised  207  443

Other  859  1,091

 11,883  11,300

Other revenues are mainly recognised at fair value when Main Roads obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, or when cash is received.

4.8 Gain/(loss)

2019
$000

2018
$000

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Land acquired for roadworks  2,654  1,209

Land and buildings  3,634  2,143

Plant, equipment and vehicles  159  74

 6,447  3,426

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Land acquired for roadworks  3,121  1,579

Land and buildings  4,757  2,542

Plant, equipment and vehicles  168  13

 8,046  4,134

Net gain/(loss)  (1,599)  (708)

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the 
carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement 
of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).

Selling expenses (e.g. sales commissions netted from agency receipts) are ordinarily immaterial. Where the amounts are 
material, additional disclosure is warranted.

Insured non-current assets written-off as a result of an insurable events are treated as other expenses (write-off of assets 
destroyed by fire/storm/earthquake etc.). The subsequent insurance recovery is treated as other income when it is received 
or receivable.
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5 	 Key assets
This section includes information regarding the key assets Main Roads utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service 
potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these 
assets:

Notes
2019
$000

2018
$000

Property, plant and equipment 5.1  405,237  426,473

Infrastructure 5.2  44,396,721  43,802,551

Intangible assets 5.3  13,668  14,828

Total key assets  44,815,626  44,243,852

5.1 Property, plant and equipment

2019
$000

2018
$000

Land

At fair value  64,307  64,995

 64,307  64,995

Buildings

At fair value  88,726  86,526

Accumulated depreciation  (11)  (8)

 88,715  86,518

Buildings under construction

Construction costs  2,611  2,117

 2,611  2,117

Plant, equipment and vehicles

At cost  42,850  42,076

Accumulated depreciation  (31,700)  (30,085)

 11,150  11,991

Surplus assets

At fair value  71,722  82,345

Accumulated depreciation  –  – 

 71,722  82,345

Land acquired for roadworks

At fair value  166,732  178,507

 166,732  178,507

Total property, plant and equipment  405,237  426,473

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period 
are set out in the table below.

Year ended  
30 June 2019

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Buildings 
under 

construct
ion

$000

Plant, 
equip

ment and 
vehicles

$000

Surplus 
assets
$000

Land 
acquired 
for road

works
$000

Total
$000

Carrying amount at 
1 July 2018  64,995  86,518  2,117  11,991  82,345  178,507  426,473
Additions (a)  241  154  4,721  3,145  275  4,852  13,388
Disposals  –  (202)  –  (169)  –  –  (371)
Classified as held for sale  (254)  (423)  –  –  (2,309)  (216)  (3,202)
Held for sale removed 
from disposal program  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers  507  3,720  (4,227)  –  –  –  – 
Transfer (to) / from 
infrastructure  –  –  –  –  (1,284)  (9,405)  (10,689)
Equity contribution / 
(distribution)  55  –  –  –  (1,560)  –  (1,505)
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements)  (1,433)  4,639  –  –  (5,608)  (7,006)  (9,408)
Impairment losses  (11)  –  –  –  –  –  (11)
Assets not previously 
recognised  207  –  –  –  –  –  207
Depreciation  –  (5,691)  –  (3,817)  (137)  –  (9,645)
Carrying amount at 
30 June 2019  64,307  88,715  2,611  11,150  71,722  166,732  405,237

(a) 	Include payments made to Department of Finance, Department of Communities and Department of Justice (State Solicitor’s Office)

Year ended  
30 June 2018

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Buildings 
under 

construct
ion

$000

Plant, 
equip

ment and 
vehicles

$000

Surplus 
assets
$000

Land 
acquired 
for road

works
$000

Total
$000

Carrying amount at 
1 July 2017  73,348  89,053  4,953  13,713  98,383  197,580  477,030
Additions  409  –  5,957  3,055  35  309  9,765
Disposals  –  –  –  (21)  –  (21)
Classified as held for sale  (1,698)  (2,648)  –  –  (8,147)  (3,500)  (15,993)
Held for sale removed 
from disposal program  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Transfers  (1,586)  8,694  (8,793)  –  109  1,576  – 
Transfer (to) / from 
infrastructure  –  –  –  –  (4,355)  (6,657)  (11,012)
Equity contribution / 
(distribution)  (61)  (36)  –  –  (736)  –  (833)
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements)  (5,417)  (3,039)  –  –  (2,901)  (10,801)  (22,158)
Impairment losses  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Assets not previously 
recognised  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Depreciation  –  (5,506)  –  (4,756)  (43)  –  (10,305)
Carrying amount at 
30 June 2018  64,995  86,518  2,117  11,991  82,345  178,507  426,473
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5.2 Infrastructure

2019
$000

2018
$000

Roads and principal shared paths

Earthworks at fair value  13,062,954  12,978,704

Accumulated depreciation  (2,969,006)  (2,987,397)

 10,093,948  9,991,307

Pavement and drainage at fair value  9,353,166  9,169,546

Accumulated depreciation  (5,539,078)  (5,405,575)

 3,814,088  3,763,971

Seals at fair value  1,496,681  1,428,076

Accumulated depreciation  (879,801)  (865,743)

 616,880  562,333

Land under roads

At fair value  23,176,529  23,540,388

 23,176,529  23,540,388

Bridges

At fair value  5,939,720  5,654,159

Accumulated depreciation  (1,774,235)  (1,725,080)

 4,165,485  3,929,079

Road furniture

At fair value  666,019  618,018

Accumulated depreciation  (258,668)  (235,001)

 407,351  383,017

Infrastructure work in progress

At cost  2,122,440  1,632,456

 2,122,440  1,632,456

Total Infrastructure  44,396,721  43,802,551



136 137Main Roads Annual Report 2019

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of infrastructure at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the 
table below.

Year ended 30 June 2019

Roads and 
principal 
shared 
paths
$000

Land 
under 
roads
$000

Bridges
$000

Road 
furniture

$000

Work in 
progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2018  14,317,611  23,540,388  3,929,079  383,017  1,632,456  43,802,551

Additions (a)  –  –  –  –  1,276,784  1,276,784

Retirements  (78,535)  –  (4,596)  (3,349)  –  (86,480)

Transfers  501,409  11,459  300,808  60,322  (873,998)  – 

Transfer (to) / from land acquired for 
roadworks  –  10,689  –  –  10,689

Revaluation increments / (decrements)  13,740  (386,000)  –  (216)  –  (372,476)

Highways and main roads reclassified 
as local roads  (21,458)  (7)  (12,337)  (2,179)  –  (35,981)

Local roads classified as highways and 
main roads  84,344  –  28,194  2,747  –  115,285

Equity contribution / (distribution)  (12,849)  –  (10,585)  (3,940)  91,744  64,370

Assets not previously recognised  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Write-down of infrastructure work in 
progress  –  –  –  –  (4,546)  (4,546)

Depreciation  (279,346)  –  (65,078)  (29,051)  –  (373,475)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 14,524,916 23,176,529  4,165,485  407,351  2,122,440 44,396,721

(a) 	Include payments to Department of Biodiversity Conservation & Attractions, Department of Water and Environmental Regulation, Department of Justice 
(State Solicitor’s Office), WA Planning Commission, Water Corporation and Western Power

Year ended 30 June 2018

Roads and 
principal 
shared 
paths
$000

Land under 
roads
$000

Bridges
$000

Road 
furniture

$000

Work in 
progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2017  13,987,928 23,820,634  3,818,537  348,924  1,150,402  43,126,425

Additions  –  –  –  –  1,058,541  1,058,541

Retirements  (47,099)  –  (3,057)  (910)  –  (51,066)

Transfers  405,660  18,688  97,546  57,009  (578,903)  – 

Transfer (to) / from land acquired for 
roadworks  –  11,012  –  –  11,012

Revaluation increments / (decrements)  236,209  (310,186)  57,005  4,964  –  (12,008)

Highways and main roads reclassified 
as local roads  (4,034)  (109)  (454)  –  –  (4,597)

Local roads classified as highways and 
main roads  7,576  –  –  1,944  –  9,520

Equity contribution / (distribution)  (8,578)  349  17,772  (3,453)  939  7,029

Assets not previously recognised  –  –  –  –  – 

Write-back of infrastructure work in 
progress  –  –  –  –  1,477  1,477

Depreciation  (260,051)  –  (58,270)  (25,461)  –  (343,782)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2018  14,317,611 23,540,388  3,929,079  383,017  1,632,456 43,802,551

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.
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Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where 
an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, buildings and 
infrastructure.

Land is carried at fair value. Buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Land and buildings
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations 
and Property Analytics) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the 
asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Land, buildings, surplus assets and land acquired for roadworks were revalued as at 1 July 2018 by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics) in conjunction with estimations by Main Roads’ 
management. The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2019 and recognised at 30 June 2019.

The estimations have been made in relation to the value of certain Metro and Rural properties where the values were not 
available at the end of the reporting period from information provided by Valuation Services for the period 1 July 2017 
to 1 July 2018. These properties have been valued based on the average percentage increase for the Metro and Rural 
areas respectively over the period 1 July 2017 to 1 July 2018. The average percentage increases have been determined by 
calculating the movement in the value of Main Roads’ Metro and Rural properties where Valuation Services have provided 
a value. The effective date of the valuations is 1 July 2018. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by 
reference to market values of Freehold land $57.902 million (2017-18: $58.631) and Buildings $73.755 million (2017-18: 
$72.136). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of current replacement cost and 
fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high 
restricted use land). Please refer to note 8.3 Fair value measurement for the remaining balance.

Infrastructure
Infrastructure is independently valued every 3 years by reference to the cost of a new asset and adjusted in the intervening 
years by reference to a cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates obtained from a professional 
estimator specialising in road infrastructure works) to ensure the carrying values do not materially differ from fair value. 
The value of roads and principal shared paths (earthworks, drainage, pavements and seals), bridges and road furniture at 
30 June 2019 is based on the current replacement cost determined at 30 June 2019 calculated using construction unit rates 
provided by a professional estimator and multiplying these by the units of relevant categories that form the infrastructure 
asset. A cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index) has been applied to principal shared paths and certain 
road furniture assets to ensure asset values do not materially differ from fair value.

Fair value for infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is generally determined by 
reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project 
size specifications, adjusted for obsolescence and optimisation (where applicable). Obsolescence encompasses physical 
deterioration, functional (technological) obsolescence and economic (external) obsolescence.

Subsequent transfer
Land acquired for road reserves is initially reported as ‘land acquired for roadworks’ under ‘property, plant and equipment’ 
until the land is required for road construction. It is then transferred to ‘land under roads’ and reported as part of 
infrastructure assets.

Land determined to be surplus to the requirements of the road reserve is available for disposal and is transferred to ‘surplus 
land’ or ‘non-current assets held for sale’ depending on the timetable for disposal.

Wherever possible, the properties are rented or leased until required for roadworks. Income from these properties is 
recognised as revenue in the financial year it is earned.
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Revaluation model for land and buildings

(a) Fair Value where market-based evidence is available:
The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference to recent 
market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

(b) Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence:
Buildings are specialised or where land is restricted: Fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing 
use.

Existing use buildings: Fair value is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the current 
replacement cost basis, the asset cost is adjusted for consumed economic benefit. Accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and restate the net carrying amount to the revalued amount.

Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility 
(high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Revaluation model for infrastructure assets
Fair value of infrastructure, other than land under roads, has been determined by reference to the current replacement cost 
(existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available. The replacement cost 
is determined by Main Roads every third year by reference to the cost of a new asset and adjusted in the intervening years 
by reference to a cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates obtained from a professional estimator 
specialising in road infrastructure works) to ensure the carrying values do not materially differ from fair value. A cost index 
(ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index) is applied to principal shared paths and certain road furniture assets to 
ensure the carrying values do not materially differ from fair value.

The value of roads and principal shared paths (earthworks, drainage, pavements and seals), bridges and road furniture 
at 30 June 2019 is based on the current replacement cost determined at 30 June 2019. This was calculated as at 30 June 
2017 using construction unit rates determined by a professional estimator and multiplying these by the units of multiple 
categories that form the infrastructure asset. A cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates obtained 
by professional estimators) was used at 30 June 2019. There was no material change in the cost indices to require a change 
at 30 June 2019. The existing values do not materially differ from fair value.

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the gross 
carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

Infrastructure work in progress comprises capital project expenditure at cost, which is capitalised following the completion 
of projects.

The fair value of land under roads (i.e. land under roadways, and road reserves, including land under footpaths, nature 
strips and median strips) is based on the market value of the land adjoining the road reserve. The land values are provided 
by geographic location on an annual basis by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) as 
follows:
•	 Metropolitan area – median value for single residential land for each Local Government Area. Land parcels up to 899 

square metres are assumed to have a single residential zoning.
•	 South West Region – nominal unimproved valuation rates covering the south west of the State from Geraldton to 

Esperance.
•	 Balance of State – nominal unimproved valuation rates based on leasehold rates for Crown land.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is sought 
where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a 
class of assets basis.

Insurance
Main Roads regularly reviews its insurance arrangements including areas where self-insurance is deemed to be 
economically justified. Self insurance covers the risks of natural disasters causing damage to infrastructure assets. Currently, 
these self-insurance areas are:
•	 roads, bridges and road furniture
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5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment expense of property, plant and equipment asset

2019
$000

2018
$000

Charge for the period

Depreciation

Plant, equipment and vehicles  3,816  4,756

Buildings  5,829  5,549

Total depreciation for the period  9,645  10,305

Less: depreciation capitalised to infrastructure  (6,653)  (6,360)

 2,992  3,945

As at 30 June 2019 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or infrastructure.

5.2.1 Depreciation and impairment expense of infrastructure assets

2019
$000

2018
$000

Charge for the period

Roads – earthworks  805  803

Roads – pavements and drainage  186,818  176,513

Roads – seal  91,723  82,735

Bridges  65,078  58,270

Road furniture  29,051  25,461

Total depreciation for the period  373,475  343,782

A fraction of road seal on the road network and a bridge was impaired as part of the impairment assessment of property, 
plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets at 30 June 2019.

Road Seal
There were 311 road seal assets impaired by reducing useful life. These road seal assets are planned to be fully or partially 
retired during next financial year.

Bridge
Koondinee Creek Bridge is impaired reducing the useful life by 16 years. The bridge has a low headroom and about to be 
replaced by a culvert. This will result in additional depreciation expenditure over the bridge’s remaining useful life.

Finite useful lives
All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this 
rule include assets held for sale and land.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior 
years are included in the table below:

Road Infrastructure:
Pavement and drainage:

 Gravel roads 12 years
 Metropolitan asphalt roads 40 years
 Rural sealed roads 50 years

Seals 7 to 19 years
Bridges 60 to 100 years
Road furniture 5 to 50 years

Property, Plant & Equipment:
Buildings (includes Surplus buildings) 25 to 40 years
Plant and vehicles 5 to 10 years
Equipment and furniture 5 to 10 years
Computer hardware and software (a) 3 to 5 years

(a) 	Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments are made where appropriate.

Road earthworks generally have an infinite life. The small percentage of earthworks that are depreciated, have been 
assessed to be substandard in terms of horizontal alignment and therefore impacted by technical obsolescence. An 
engineering review is completed annually to identify these segments in accordance with UIG Interpretation 1055 ‘Accounting 
for Road Earthworks’.

Land has infinite life and is not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of land because the service potential 
has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.

Impairment of assets
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure assets are tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit  
or loss.

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement through other comprehensive income.

As Main Roads is a not-for-profit agency, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be 
materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its 
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. The exception is road earthworks when 
the alignment of a section of road may be assessed to be deficient and the useful life of the asset is revised from infinite to 
finite. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the 
level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining 
replacement costs.
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5.3 Intangible assets

2019
$000

2018
$000

Computer software and licences

At cost  33,681  30,903

Accumulated amortisation  (20,022)  (16,084)

 13,659  14,819

Drainage easements

At cost  9  9

 9  9

Total intangible assets  13,668  14,828

Reconciliations:

Computer software and licences

Carrying amount at start of period  14,819  13,489

Additions  2,778  4,523

Disposals  –  – 

Transfers  –  – 

Amortisation expense  (3,938)  (3,193)

Carrying amount at end of period  13,659  14,819

Intangible assets
Initial recognition
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $250,000 or more 
that comply with the recognition criteria as per AASB 138.57 (as noted below), are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets 
is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:
(a) 	The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
(b) 	An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
(c) 	The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d) 	The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;
(e) 	The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

intangible asset;
(f) 	 The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible asset, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

5.3.1 Amortisation and impairment expense of intangible assets

2019
$000

2018
$000

Amortisation

Intangible assets  3,937  3,193

Total amortisation  3,937  3,193

Less: amortisation capitalised to infrastructure  (2,323)  (1,842)

 1,614  1,351
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As at 30 June 2019 there was one indication of impairment to intangible assets.

Main Roads held no goodwill asset with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting 
period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its 
estimated useful life. All intangible assets controlled by Main Roads, except drainage easements, have a finite useful life and 
zero residual value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Computer software (a) and licences	 3 to 10 years

(a) 	Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Computer software and licences
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not 
an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed 
in the year of acquisition.

Drainage easements
Easements secured over properties for the purpose of road drainage have an indefinite useful life.

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified. 
One software asset is impaired by reducing useful life during this financial year.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1 and 5.2.1.

6 	 Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Main Roads’ controlled operations and includes other assets 
utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Notes
2019
$000

2018
$000

Receivables 6.1  208,948  117,060

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 6.2  2,825,877  2,541,794

Inventories 6.3  7,533  9,340

Prepayments 6.4  15,026  10,082

Payables 6.5  371,668  318,133

Other provisions 6.6  2,208  1,877

6.1 Receivables

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Trade receivables  148,961  47,990

Other debtors  810  1,321

Allowance for impairment of trade receivables  (231)  (243)

Trade debtors – unbilled receivables  14,331  24,244

GST receivable  32,573  32,269

Accrued revenue  12,270  11,241

Total current  208,714  116,822

Non-current

Trade receivables  234  238

Total non-current  234  238

Total receivables  208,948  117,060

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). 
The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
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6.1.1  Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

2019
$000

2018
$000

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables:

Balance at start of period  243  2,205

Remeasurement under AASB 9 (note 9.2)  148  – 

Restated balance at start of period  391  2,205

Doubtful debts expense  –  102

Expected credit losses expense  (10)  – 

Amounts written off during the year  (121)  (2,064)

Expected credit losses reversed during the period  (29)  – 

Balance at end of period  231  243

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables is the carrying amount of the 
asset inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note 8.1(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’.

Main Roads does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements for trade receivables.

6.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current  31,065  38,936

Non-current  2,794,812  2,502,858

Balance at end of period  2,825,877  2,541,794

Amounts receivable for services represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it 
can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the holding 
accounts).

6.3 Inventories

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Inventories held for distribution:

 – Construction and maintenance materials  914  1,177

 – Electrical Stores  –  2,755

Total current  914  3,932

Non-current

Inventories held for distribution:

 – Construction and maintenance materials  6,619  5,408

Total non-current  6,619  5,408

Total inventories  7,533  9,340

Inventories held for distribution (for roadworks) are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service 
potential. Costs are assigned on a standard, average or last known cost basis.

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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6.4 Prepayments

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Contractor’s advance  13,920  8,854

Prepaid insurance  720  861

Total current  14,640  9,715

Non-current

Contractor’s advance  –  – 

Prepaid insurance  386  367

Total non-current  386  367

Total prepayments  15,026  10,082

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services and that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

6.5 Payables

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Trade creditors  8,220  6,600

Major contracts and services  197,800  196,655

Property acquisitions liability (a)  67,012  57,083

Contractors’ retention  607  623

Funds received in advance (b)  34,319  9,830

Performance bonds / surety  2,032  971

Accrued salaries (c)  5,333  5,553

Total current  315,323  277,315

Non-current

Funds received in advance (b)  56,345  40,818

Total non-current  56,345  40,818

Total Payables  371,668  318,133

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when Main Roads becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of 
a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(a)	 A property acquisition liability has been recognised in respect of properties for which a Notice of Resumption under the 
Land Administration Act 1997 has been issued and formal possession has taken place but where settlement has not 
been achieved at the end of the reporting period. Liabilities in such circumstances have been based on valuations and 
include costs of acquisition. This liability is included in Payables.

(b)	 Funds received in advance represents payments for agreed future works for third parties including public and private 
companies. The balance comprises mainly the agreed maintenance contribution scheme by private companies. The 
balance is divided into current and non-current portion. The comparative is also adjusted accordingly.

(c)	 Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are 
settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. Main Roads considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to 
be equivalent to its fair value.
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6.6 Other provisions

2019
$000

2018
$000

Current

Site restoration  2,208  1,877

Total Current  2,208  1,877

Non-current

Site restoration  –  – 

Total Non-current  –  – 

Total other provisions  2,208  1,877

6.6.1  Provision for remediation
Main Roads has a legal obligation to restore the site cleared for the purposes of constructing Roe Highway Extension (Stage 
8). The associated expense is disclosed in Note 5.2 Infrastructure Work In Progress.

A provision for remediation is recognised when:
1) 	 there is a present obligation as a result of development activities undertaken,
2) 	 it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and
3) 	 the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The estimated future obligations include the costs of restoring the affected areas.

The provision for future remediation costs is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure required to settle the 
remediation obligation at the reporting date, based on contractor’s professional judgement. Future remediation costs are 
reviewed annually and any changes in the estimate are reflected in the present value of the remediation provision at each 
reporting date.

Movements in other provisions

2019
$000

2018
$000

Site restoration cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period  1,877  5,744

Movement in provisions  331  (3,867)

Carrying amount at end of period  2,208  1,877
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7 	 Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cashflows of Main Roads.

Notes

Cash and cash equivalents 7.1

Commitments 7.2

7.1 Cash and cash equivalents
7.1.1 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Cash and cash equivalents  196,875  283,742

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  188,888  251,059

 385,763  534,801

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Contractor’s deposits (a)  607  623

Land Transport Infrastructure Projects (b)  160,432  233,852

Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme (c)  3  11

Royalties for Regions Fund (d)  27,846  16,573

 188,888  251,059

(a) 	Contractor’s deposits
Amounts withheld from contractors payments pending satisfactory completion of works.

(b) 	Land Transport Infrastructure Projects
Funds provided as part of National Partnership on Infrastructure Projects in Western Australia.

(c) 	Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme
Funds held in this account are to be used for purposes of meeting payments to eligible working parents with 18 weeks of 
Parental Leave Pay.

(d) 	Royalties for Regions Fund
Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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7.1.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Note
2019
$000

2018
$000

Net cost of services  (463,283)  (344,581)

Non-cash items

Depreciation expense – infrastructure 5.2.1  373,475  343,782

Depreciation and amortisation expense – other assets 5.1.1, 5.3.1  4,606  5,296

Grants to other bodies 3.2  35,981  4,597

Grants received from other bodies 4.5  (116,297)  (9,731)

Services received free of charge 4.1  2,530  1,672

Infrastructure assets retired/replaced 3.3  91,387  51,427

Assets not previously recognised  (207)  (443)

Adjustment for other non-cash items  (147)  – 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4.8  1,599  708

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Receivables (a)  (3,853)  5,681

Inventories  1,807  (3,606)

Prepayments  (4,944)  4,969

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Payables (a)  52,055  20,402

Provisions  2,120  884

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)  153,175  137,882

Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)  (153,479)  (139,327)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (23,475)  79,612

(a) 	Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of  
non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) 	This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

(c) 	This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

7.2 Commitments
7.2.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

2019
$000

2018
$000

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year  4,523  4,671

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  12,842  12,643

Later than 5 years  6,753  9,034

 24,118  26,348

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived 
from the leased properties.

Main Roads has entered into a number of non-cancellable leases for buildings with various terms. Annual lease payments 
may increase based on CPI or rate specified in the agreements.
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7.2.2 Capital commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Within 1 year  523,647  524,133

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  191,917  127,762

Later than 5 years  –  – 

 715,564  651,895

The total presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive.

7.2.3 Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments predominantly comprise maintenance commitments for road infrastructure assets 
contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Within 1 year  430,761  218,847

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  648,099  346,996

Later than 5 years  155  487

 1,079,015  566,330

The total presented for other expenditure commitments are GST inclusive.

Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies – operating lease commitments
Main Roads has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office accommodation. Some of these leases relate 
to buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

8 	 Risks and Contingencies
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of Main Roads.

Notes

Financial risk management 8.1

Contingent assets 8.2.1

Contingent liabilities 8.2.2

Fair value measurements 8.3

8.1 Financial risk management
Financial instruments held by Main Roads are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables 
and payables. Main Roads has limited exposure to financial risks. Main Roads’ overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

(a) 	Summary of risks and risk management
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of Main Roads’ receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to Main Roads.

Credit risk associated with Main Roads’ financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account). For receivables other than Government, Main Roads trades only with recognised, creditworthy 
third parties. Main Roads has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with 
an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that Main 
Roads’ exposure to bad debts is minimal. Debt will be written-off against the allowance account when it is improbable or 
uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when Main Roads is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

Main Roads is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

Main Roads has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect Main 
Roads’ income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Main Roads does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks.

Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 8.1(e), Main Roads is not exposed to the interest 
rate risk. Majority of cash and cash equivalents are non-interest bearing and restricted cash and cash equivalents are 
interest bearing. Main Roads has no borrowings as at 30 June 2019.

(b) 	Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  196,875  283,742

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  188,888  251,059

Loans and receivables (a)  –  2,626,585

Financial assets at amortised cost (a)  3,002,252  – 

Total financial assets  3,388,015  3,161,386

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  371,668  318,133

Total financial liability  371,668  318,133

(a) 	The amount of Loans and receivables/Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c)	 Credit risk exposure
The following table details the credit risk exposure on the Agency’s trade receivables using a provision matrix.

Days past due

Total
$000

Current
$000

1-30 Days
$000

31-60 Days
$000

61-90 Days
$000

>91 days
$000

30 June 2019

Expected credit loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0.47%

Estimated total gross carrying amount 
at default  149,195  18,493  28,487  204  20,068  81,943

Expected credit losses  (381)  –  –  –  –  (381)

 148,814  18,493  28,487  204  20,068  81,562

1 July 2018 (Remeasurement)

Expected credit loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 24.22%

Estimated total gross carrying amount 
at default  48,228  14,364  31,789  371  89  1,616

Expected credit losses  (391)  –  –  –  –  (391)

 47,837  14,364  31,789  371  89  1,225
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(e)	Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of Main Roads’ financial assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 0.25% change in interest rates. It is assumed that 
the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

Carrying 
amount

$000

-25 basis points +25 basis points

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

2019

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  188,888  (472)  (472)  472  472

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (472)  (472)  472  472

Carrying 
amount

$000

-25 basis points +25 basis points

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

2018

Financial Assets

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  251,059  (628)  (628)  628  628

Total Increase/(Decrease)  (628)  (628)  628  628

8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if 
quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

8.2.1 Contingent assets
The following contingent assets are excluded from the assets within the financial statements:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Contract claims in dispute  1,493  – 

 1,493  – 

8.2.2 Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities within the financial statements:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Contract claims in dispute  44,482  5,560

Resumption claims in dispute  249,664  244,885

 294,146  250,445

Contract claims in dispute
Claims have been submitted by contractors in relation to services provided under roadwork contracts. The contingent 
liability is the difference between the amount of the claim and the liability estimated and recognised by Main Roads based 
on legal advice.

Resumption claims in dispute
Claims have been lodged by owners of property acquired for road construction purposes. The contingent liability is the 
difference between the owner’s claim and the estimated settlement price determined and recognised by Main Roads in 
accordance with an independent valuation.
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Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, Main Roads is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the 
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated 
– remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, Main Roads may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses.

During the year, Main Roads reported eight suspected contaminated sites to DWER. Three sites were classified as possibly 
contaminated – investigation required and five were classified as remediated for restricted use. Main Roads is unable to 
assess the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflows. Whilst 
there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of these sites, Main 
Roads may apply for funding from the Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative work or 
to meet remediation costs that may be required.

8.3 Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value:
Level 1

$000
Level 2

$000
Level 3

$000

Fair value at 
end of period

$000

2019

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
(Note 9.7)  –  5,756  1,031  6,787

Land (Note 5.1)  –  57,902  6,405  64,307

Buildings (Note 5.1)  –  73,755  14,960  88,715

Surplus assets (Note 5.1)  –  42,083  29,639  71,722

Land acquired for roadworks (Note 5.1)  –  127,132  39,600  166,732

Infrastructure (Note 5.2)  –  –  42,274,281  42,274,281

 –  306,628  42,365,916  42,672,544

Assets measured at fair value:
Level 1

$000
Level 2

$000
Level 3

$000

Fair value at 
end of period

$000

2018

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
(Note 9.7)  –  10,912  708  11,620

Land (Note 5.1)  –  58,631  6,364  64,995

Buildings (Note 5.1)  –  72,136  14,382  86,518

Surplus assets (Note 5.1)  –  49,773  32,572  82,345

Land acquired for roadworks (Note 5.1)  –  136,793  41,714  178,507

Infrastructure (Note 5.2)  –  –  42,170,095  42,170,095

 –  328,245  42,265,835  42,594,080

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land, Buildings, Surplus assets and Land acquired for roadworks are 
derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings in close proximity is 
used to determine price per square metre.

Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell. Fair value has been determined by 
reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Non-
current 

asset held 
for sale

$000
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Surplus 
assets
$000

Land 
acquired 
for road

works
$000

Infra
structure

$000

2019

Fair value at start of period  708  6,364  14,382  32,572  41,714  42,170,095

Additions  –  262  389  105  4,384  972,598

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit or Loss  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income  –  (228)  361  (2,114)  (14,799)  (372,476)

Transfers from/(to) Level 2/Level 3  323  7  472  (87)  11,090  – 

Disposals  –  –  –  (813)  (2,789)  (122,461)

Depreciation expense  –  –  (644)  (24)  –  (373,475)

Fair value at end of period  1,031  6,405  14,960  29,639  39,600 42,274,281

Total gains or losses for the period 
included in profit or loss, under ‘Other 
Gains’  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Non-
current 

asset held 
for sale

$000
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Surplus 
assets
$000

Land 
acquired 
for road

works
$000

Infra
structure

$000

2018

Fair value at start of period  –  6,127  14,105  34,987  45,479  41,976,023

Additions  –  64  –  342  1,479  605,525

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Profit or Loss  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income  –  (92)  (146)  (722)  (2,543)  (12,008)

Transfers from/(to) Level 2/Level 3  708  265  1,025  972  23  – 

Disposals  –  –  –  (2,979)  (2,724)  (55,663)

Depreciation expense  –  –  (602)  (28)  –  (343,782)

Fair value at end of period  708  6,364  14,382  32,572  41,714 42,170,095

Total gains or losses for the period 
included in profit or loss, under ‘Other 
Gains’  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused 
the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s 
Instructions require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will 
utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land, surplus assets and land acquired for roadworks (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted 
use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The 
fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with 
higher estimated fair values of land.
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Buildings (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised building assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is the current 
cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or 
expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is 
generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility 
and the gross project size specifications adjusted for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, 
functional (technological) obsolescence and economic (external) obsolescence.

Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. Current replacement cost is current cost of an asset less 
accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, 
or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is determined every third year 
by reference to the cost of a new asset and adjusted in the intervening years by reference to a cost index (ABS Road and 
Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates obtained by professional estimators specialising in road infrastructure works) to 
ensure asset carrying values do not materially differ from fair value.

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are 
valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions 
or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. 
These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service.

Significant Level 3 inputs used by Main Roads are derived and evaluated as follows:

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. 
Relevant comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services).

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m2)
The cost of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility area extracted from financial reports of Main Roads, then 
indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)
The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of earthworks, pavements (including drainage and seals), bridges and road 
furniture is calculated using construction unit rates determined by a professional estimator and multiplying these by the 
units of relevant categories that form the infrastructure asset.

The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of principal shared paths and certain road furniture are extracted from 
financial records of Main Roads and indexed by movements in the ABS Road and Bridge Construction cost index.

Selection of land adjoining road reserve
The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of land under roads is determined by comparison with the unimproved land 
values for land tax purposes maintained by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description

Fair value 
2019 
$000

Fair value 
2018 
$000 Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs

Land, Surplus asset and Land 
acquired for roadworks

 75,644  80,650 Market approach Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

Buildings  14,960  14,382 Current replacement 
cost

Historical cost per square metre 
floor area (m2)

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Infrastructure (Earthworks) 10,093,948  9,991,307 Current replacement 
cost

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)

Infrastructure (Pavements 
including drainage and seals)

 4,430,968  4,326,304 Current replacement 
cost

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)

Infrastructure (Bridges)  4,165,485  3,929,079 Current replacement 
cost

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)

Infrastructure (Road 
furniture)

 407,351  383,017 Current replacement 
cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Infrastructure (Land under 
roads)

23,176,529 23,540,388 Market approach Selection of land adjoining road 
reserve

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 5.1 and 5.2.

9 	  Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 9.1

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 9.2

Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative 9.3

Key management personnel 9.4

Related party transactions 9.5

Remuneration of auditors 9.6

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 9.7

Equity 9.8

Supplementary financial information 9.9

Services provided free of charge 9.10

Indian Ocean Territories 9.11

Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations) 9.12

9.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period that have any financial effect on the results reported 
on these financial statements.

9.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards
AASB 9 Financial instruments
AASB 9 Financial instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurements for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: 
classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting.

Main Roads applied AASB 9 prospectively, with an initial application date of 1 July 2018. The adoption of AASB 9 has resulted 
in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements. In accordance 
with AASB 9.7.2.15, Main Roads has not restated the comparative information which continues to be reported under AASB 
139. Differences arising from adoption have been recognised directly in Accumulated surplus/(deficit).
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The effect of adopting AASB 9 as at 1 July 2018 was, as follows:

Adjustments
1 July 2018

$000

Assets

Trade receivables (a), (b)  (148)

Loans and advances  (a)  – 

Total Assets  (148)

Total adjustments on Equity

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (a), (b)  (148)

 (148)

The nature of these adjustments are described below:

(a) 	Classification and measurement
Under AASB 9, financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (fair value through OCI) or fair value through profit or loss (fair value through P/L). The classification is based on two 
criteria: Main Roads’ business model for managing the assets; and whether the assets’ contractual cash flows represent 
‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding.

The assessment of Main Roads business model was made as of the date of initial application, 1 July 2018. The assessment 
of whether contractual cash flows on financial assets are solely comprised of principal and interest was made based on the 
facts and circumstances at the time of initial recognition of the assets.

The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact on Main Roads. The following 
are the changes in the classification of Main Roads’ financial assets:

• 	 Trade receivables and Loans and advances (i.e. Other debtors) classified as Loans and receivables as at 30 June 2018 are 
held to collect contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. 
These are classified and measured as Financial assets at amortised cost beginning 1 July 2018.

• 	 Main Roads did not designate any financial assets as at fair value through P/L.

In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, Main Roads had the following reclassifications as at 1 July 2018:

AASB 9 category

Amortised 
cost
$000

Fair value 
through OCI

$000

Fair value 
through P/L

$000

AASB 139 category $000

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables*  47,985  47,837  –  – 

Receivables – other  36,806  36,806

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)  2,541,794  2,541,794

Loans and advances  –  –  –  – 

 2,626,437  –  – 

*	 The change in carrying amount is a result of additional impairment allowance. See the discussion on impairment below.
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(b) 	Impairment
The adoption of AASB 9 has fundamentally changed Main Roads’ accounting for impairment losses for financial assets by 
replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. AASB 9 requires 
Main Roads to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all financial assets not held at fair value through P/L.

Upon adoption of AASB 9, Main Roads recognised an additional impairment on the Main Roads’ Trade receivables of 
$148,250.83 which resulted in a decrease in accumulated surplus/(deficit) of $148,250.83 as at 1 July 2018.

Set out below is the reconciliation of the ending impairment allowances in accordance with AASB 139 to the opening loss 
allowances determined in accordance with AASB 9:

Impairment 
under AASB 

139 as at 
30 June 2018

$000

Remeasure
ment
$000

ECL under 
AASB 9 as at 
1 July 2018

$000

Loans and receivables under AASB 139 /Financial assets at 
amortised cost under AASB 9 (note 6.1.1)  243  148  391

 –  –  – 

 243  148  391

9.3 Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative
Main Roads cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’ or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable, Main 
Roads plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard establishes the principles that the Agency shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The 
mandatory effective date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2019 after being 
amended by AASB 2016-17.

Impact Main Roads income is primarily derived from appropriations which will be measured 
under AASB 1058. Main Roads also derives funds from the Commonwealth to deliver 
Road Infrastructure Projects. Main Roads will defer income from the Commonwealth 
until services are provided or performance obligations are met.

Transition Main Roads will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15. 
No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and the agency will 
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value.

Impact The recognition of additional assets and liabilities, mainly from operating leases, will 
increase the Main Road’s total assets by $24.118m and total liabilities by $24.118m. 
This will have an nil equity impact on 1 July 2019. In addition, interest and depreciation 
expenses will increase, offset by a decrease in rental expense for the year ending 30 
June 2020 and beyond. 
The above assessment is based on the following accounting policy positions: 
• Option 2 of the modified retrospective approach on transition; 
• the ‘low value asset’ threshold set at AUD $5,000 (unless GROH, GOA or State Fleet); 
• For leases classified as ‘short term’ (12 months or less), these are not recognised 
under AASB 16 (unless GROH, GOA or State Fleet); 
• Land, buildings and investment property ROU assets are measured under the fair 
value model, subsequent to initial recognition; and 
• Discount rates are sourced from WA Treasury Corporation (WATC).

Transition Main Roads will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 16. 
No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and Main Roads will 
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that 
apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting the economic reality 
of NFP entity transactions that are not contracts with customers. Timing of income 
recognition is dependent on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other 
performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by 
owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) received by Main Roads.

Impact AASB 1058 will have no impact on appropriations and recurrent grants received by 
Main Roads – they will continue to be recognised as income when funds are deposited 
in the bank account or credited to the holding account.

Transition Main Roads will adopt the modified retrospective approach on transition to 
AASB 1058. No comparative information will be restated under this approach, and 
Main Roads will recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as 
an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of 
initial application.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors 1 Jan 2020

Nature of 
Change

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession arrangement (a type 
of public private partnership) by a grantor that is a public sector agency by prescribing 
the accounting for the arrangement from the grantor’s perspective. Timing and 
measurement for the recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of 
the arrangement and the accounting for associated liabilities is determined by whether 
the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public service provided. 
The mandatory effective date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2020 after being 
amended by AASB 2018-5.

Impact Main Roads does not manage any public private partnership that is within the scope of 
the Standard.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard inserts Australian requirements and authoritative implementation 
guidance for not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This guidance assists 
not-for-profit entities in applying those Standards to particular transactions and other 
events. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2018-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Licensors 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard amends AASB 15 to add requirements and authoritative implementation 
guidance for application by not-for-profit public sector licensors to transactions 
involving the issue of licences. There is no financial impact as the Main Roads does not 
issue licences.

AASB 2018-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 1059 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 1059 so that AASB 1059 
is required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2020 instead of 1 January 2019. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material 1 Jan 2020

Nature of 
Change

This Standard clarifies the definition of material and its application by improving the 
wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards and other publications. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2018-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Right-of-Use Assets of Not-for-Profit 
Entities 1 Jan 2019

Nature of 
Change

This Standard provides a temporary option for not-for-profit entities to not apply 
the fair value initial measurement requirements for right-of-use assets arising under 
leases with significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the 
entity to further its objectives.

Impact Main Roads will elect to apply the option to measure right-of-use assets under 
peppercorn leases at cost (which is generally about $1). As a result, the financial impact 
of this Standard is not material.
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9.4 Key management personnel
Main Roads has determined key management personnel to include cabinet ministers and senior officers of Main Roads. 
Main Roads does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report 
on State Finances. The remuneration of the incumbent Commissioner of Main Roads is met by the Department of Transport.

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of Main Roads for the 
reporting period are presented within the following bands:

Compensation of members of the accountable authority

Compensation Band ($) 2019 2018

0 – 10,000  1  2

Compensation of senior officers

Compensation Band ($) 2019 2018

400,001 – 410,000  1  – 

360,001 – 370,000  –  1

270,001 – 280,000  1  – 

250,001 – 260,000  –  2

240,001 – 250,000  3  1

230,001 – 240,000  2  2

220,001 – 230,000  –  1

210,001 – 220,000  1  1

200,001 – 210,000  –  1

190,001 – 200,000  –  1

180,001 – 190,000  1  – 

40,001 – 50,000  1  – 

2019
$000

2018
$000

Short term employee benefits  1,930  1,915

Post-employment benefits  375  248

Other long term benefits  23  62

Termination benefits  –  206

The total compensation of senior officers  2,328  2,431

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by Main Roads in respect of senior officers. The change 
in bands comparing to previous year is mainly due to termination payment in previous financial year.

9.5 Related party transactions
Main Roads is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western Australia.

Related parties of Main Roads include:
– 	 all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
– 	 all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
– 	 other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are included in the whole of government 

consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector entities);
– 	 associates and joint ventures, of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and
– 	 the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)
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Significant transactions with government related entities
In conducting its activities, Main Roads is required to transact with the State and entities related to the State. These 
transactions are generally based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:
-	 Income from State Government (Note 4.1)
-	 Contributed equity (Note 9.8)
-	 services received free of charge from other government agencies (Note 4.1)
-	 income from Road Trauma Trust Fund (Note 4.1)
-	 income from Natural disaster fund (Note 4.1)
-	 income from Royalties for Regions Fund (Notes 4.1 and 9.8)
-	 superannuation payments to GESB (Note 3.1(a))
-	 remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (Note 9.6)
-	 payments mainly for vegetation clearing permits required for road construction to Department of Biodiversity 

Conservation & Attractions amounting $1.1 million (Note 5.2)
-	 payments mainly for vegetation clearing permits required for road construction to Department of Water and 

Environmental Regulation amounting $1.4 million (Note 5.2)
-	 payments for property management expenses and fleet leasing to the Department of Finance amounting $10.9 million 

(Notes 3.3 and 5.1)
-	 commitments of $24.1 million future lease payments to the Department of Finance (Note 7.2)
-	 payments mainly for road maintenance to Department of Biodiversity Conservation & Attractions amounting $2.0 million 

(Note 3.2)
-	 payments mainly for Bicycle Boulevard Program to Department of Transport amounting $3.0 million (Note 3.2)
-	 payments mainly for land acquisition used for road construction to State Solicitor’s Office amounting $29.8 million (Notes 

5.1 and 5.2)
-	 payments mainly for land acquisition used for road construction to Western Australian Planning Commission amounting 

$6.9 million (Notes 5.1 and 5.2)
-	 payments mainly for land acquisition to Department of Communities amounting $1.9 million (Note 5.1)
-	 payments mainly for service relocation enabling road construction to Western Power amounting $8.9 million (Note 5.2)
-	 payments mainly for service relocation enabling road construction to Water Corporation amounting $1.5 million 

(Note 5.2)
-	 insurance payments of $2.8 million to RiskCover fund (Note 3.3)
-	 payments mainly received as contribution to roadworks from Public Transport Authority amounting $12.7 million (Note 

4.2 and 4.4)
-	 payments mainly received from Department of Transport as contribution to roadworks amounting $51.7 million 

(Note 4.2 and 4.4)
-	 payments mainly received from Department of Jobs Tourism Science and Innovation as contribution to roadworks 

amounting $20.8 million (Note 4.4)

Material transactions with other related parties
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with Main Roads, there were no other related party transactions that involved 
key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.
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9.6 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators  253  239

Other audits  59  30

 312  269

9.7 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
The following table represents a summary of assets held for sale:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Freehold land and buildings

Opening balance  11,620 1,579

Assets reclassified as held for sale  3,606 15,993

Assets removed from current disposal program  (404)  – 

Assets sold  (7,771) (4,120)

Write-down of assets from carrying value to fair value less selling costs  (264) (1,832)

Closing balance  6,787  11,620

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.

Main Roads disposes freehold land and buildings where it is no longer required for road construction, outside the defined 
road planning requirement or no longer required for operational purposes. If the freehold land and buildings are not 
required by Government, then they are sold at public auction or tender in the first instance and thereafter by private treaty. 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are expected to settle within 12 months.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised.
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9.8 Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in Main Roads on behalf of the community. Equity represents 
the residual interest in the net assets of Main Roads. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity 
resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Notes
2019
$000

2018
$000

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period  5,052,392  4,574,692

Correction of errors in prior period 9.2  –  2,826

Contributions by owners

Capital contributions  300,579  336,556

Other contributions by owners

Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headwork Account  49,316  132,122

Transfer of net assets from other agencies

 Public Transport Authority  92,336  24,303

 Western Australian Planning Commission  2,093  52

 Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage  55  61

Total contributions by owners  444,379  493,094

Distributions to owners

Transfer of net assets to other agencies

 Public Transport Authority  (31,620)  (17,326)

 Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development  (4,525)  (894)

 Department of Treasury  (8,137)  – 

Total distributions to owners  (44,282)  (18,220)

Balance at end of period  5,452,489  5,052,392

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period  27,636,301  27,670,467

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

 Earthworks, Drainage, Pavements and Seals  13,683  236,209

 Bridges  –  57,005

 Land under roads  (385,942)  (310,186)

 Road Furniture  (216)  4,964

 Land and Buildings  (9,408)  (22,158)

Balance at end of period  27,254,418  27,636,301

Accumulated surplus

Balance at start of period  14,426,495  13,691,101

Correction of errors in prior period/Changes in accounting policy  (148)  (2,826)

Result for the period  722,959  738,220

Income and expense recognised directly in equity  –  – 

Balance at end of period  15,149,306  14,426,495

Total Equity at end of period  47,856,213  47,115,188
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9.9 Supplementary financial information
(a)  Write-offs
During the financial year $121,000 (2018: $2.064 million) was written off the Main Roads’ asset register under the authority 
of:

2019
$000

2018
$000

The accountable authority  121  81

The Minister  –  197

Executive Council  –  1,786

 121  2,064

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

2019
$000

2018
$000

Fixed asset stocktake discrepancies  –  8

 –  8

(c) Gifts of public property

2019
$000

2018
$000

Gifts of public property provided by Main Roads  19  21

 19  21

(d) Restricted Access Vehicle permits (a)

2019
$000

2018
$000

Regulatory fees  8,009  7,447

Transfer payments  8,032  7,458

Cash held in lieu of transfer  34  23

(a) 	Main Roads collects the Restricted Access Vehicle permits fees in accordance with Road Traffic (Vehicles) Regulations 2014. The receipts are paid into the 
Consolidated Fund and are subsequently appropriated to Main Roads.
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9.10 Services provided free of charge
During the year the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of Main Roads:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Department of Transport – accommodation costs and provision of traffic modelling 
services  388  112

Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage – traffic modelling  170  49

Venues West  392  – 

Public Transport Authority – provision of professional services  353  218

Department of Water and Environmental Regulation – provision of professional 
services  231  138

Services provided free of charge to other agencies  10  39

 1,544  556

9.11 Indian Ocean Territories
Main Roads provides road management services to Indian Ocean Territories under service delivery arrangements with the 
Shires of Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands. The amounts expended or set aside for expenditure during 2018-19 
are summarised below:

2019
$000

2018
$000

Amount brought forward for recovery  (27)  5

Amount received during the period  (45)  (68)

 (72)  (63)

Expenditure during the year  33  36

Amount carried forward for recovery  (39)  (27)
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9.12 Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations)
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2019 and between the actual results for 2019 and 
2018 are shown below. Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are 
generally greater than:
•	 5% and $25.0 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and,
•	 5% and $25.0 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2019
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2018
$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual
$000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2019 and 

2018
$000

9.12.1 Statement of Comprehensive 
Income Variances

Expenses
Employee benefits expenses  73,626  64,536  72,081 (9,090)  (7,545)
Supplies and services 1 A  557,605  431,321  521,297 (126,284)  (89,976)
Depreciation and impairment expense of 
infrastructure assets  B  376,346  373,475  343,782 (2,871)  29,693
Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment expense – other  2,525  4,606  5,296 2,081  (690)
Grants and subsidies 2 C  237,411  332,610  268,975 95,199  63,635
Other expenses 3 D  34,431  91,387  51,427 56,956  39,960
Total cost of services  1,281,944  1,297,935  1,262,858 15,991  35,077

Income
Revenue
Sale of goods and services  –  10,577  10,970  10,577  (393)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4 E  855,298  622,697  772,639  (232,601)  (149,942)
Contributions to roadworks  F  65,245  70,510  108,341  5,265  (37,831)
Grants from other bodies 5 G  42,216  116,297  9,731  74,081  106,566
Interest revenue  10  4,287  6,004  4,277  (1,717)
Other revenue  14,107  11,883  11,300  (2,224)  583
Total revenue  976,876  836,251  918,985  (140,625)  (82,734)

Gains
Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current 
assets  200  (1,599)  (708)  (1,799)  (891)
Total gains  200  (1,599)  (708)  (1,799)  (891)
Total income other than income from 
State Government  977,076  834,652  918,277  (142,424)  (83,625)
NET COST OF SERVICES  304,868  463,283  344,581  158,415  118,702

Income from State Government
Income from State Government  982,697  979,697  897,792  (3,000)  81,905
Services received free of charge  2,700  2,530  1,672  (170)  858
Other funds received from State 
Government 6  139,463  204,015  183,337  64,552  20,678
Total income from State Government  1,124,860  1,186,242  1,082,801  61,382  103,441
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  819,992  722,959  738,220  (97,033)  (15,261)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus  –  (381,883)  (34,166)  (381,883)  (347,717)
Total other comprehensive income  –  (381,883)  (34,166)  (381,883)  (347,717)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD  819,992  341,076  704,054  (478,916)  (362,978)
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Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2019
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2018
$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual
$000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2019 and 

2018
$000

9.12.2 Statement of Financial Position 
Variances

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  272,273  196,875  283,742  (75,398)  (86,867)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  94,540  188,888  251,059  94,348  (62,171)
Receivables  89,756  208,714  116,822  118,958  91,892
Amounts receivable for services  45,767  31,065  38,936  (14,702)  (7,871)
Inventories  3,379  914  3,932  (2,465)  (3,018)
Prepayments  13,894  14,640  9,715  746  4,925
Non-current assets classified as held for 
sale  1,579  6,787  11,620  5,208  (4,833)
Total Current Assets  521,188  647,883  715,826  126,695  (67,943)

Non-Current Assets
Receivables  1,147  234  238  (913)  (4)
Amounts receivable for services  2,780,110  2,794,812  2,502,858  14,702  291,954
Inventories  1,912  6,619  5,408  4,707  1,211
Prepayments  1,157  386  367  (771)  19
Property, plant and equipment 7  509,183  405,237  426,473  (103,946)  (21,236)
Infrastructure 8 46,335,269 44,396,721  43,802,551  (1,938,548)  594,170
Intangible assets  9,147  13,668  14,828  4,521  (1,160)
Total Non-Current Assets  49,637,925  47,617,677  46,752,723 (2,020,248)  864,954
TOTAL ASSETS  50,159,113  48,265,560  47,468,549 (1,893,553)  797,011

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables  289,409  315,323  277,315  25,914  38,008
Employee related provisions  27,433  30,534  28,426  3,101  2,108
Other provisions  5,744  2,208  1,877  (3,536)  331
Total Current Liabilities  322,586  348,065  307,618  25,479  40,447

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables  –  56,345  40,818  56,345  15,527
Other provisions  5,034  4,937  4,925  (97)  12
Total Non-Current Liabilities  5,034  61,282  45,743  56,248  15,539
TOTAL LIABILITIES  327,620  409,347  353,361  81,727  55,986
NET ASSETS 49,831,493 47,856,213 47,115,188 (1,975,280) 741,025

EQUITY
Contributed equity  5,364,313  5,452,489  5,052,392  88,176  400,097
Reserves 9  29,379,381  27,254,418  27,636,301  (2,124,963)  (381,883)
Accumulated surplus  15,087,799  15,149,306  14,426,495  61,507  722,811
TOTAL EQUITY 49,831,493 47,856,213 47,115,188 (1,975,280) 741,025
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Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget

2019
$000

Actual
2019
$000

Actual
2018
$000

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and actual
$000

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 
2019 and 

2018
$000

9.12.3 Statement of Cash Flows 
Variances

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  H  659,678  656,678  568,932  (3,000)  87,746
Capital appropriation  I  263,253  287,916  336,556  24,663  (48,640)
Holding account drawdown  38,936  38,936  32,300  –  6,636
Road Trauma Trust Fund  53,020  42,883  57,671  (10,137)  (14,788)
Natural disaster funds  J  43,930  53,650  97,017  9,720  (43,367)
Royalties for Regions Fund 10 K  100,210  69,114  138,250  (31,096)  (69,136)
Net cash provided by State 
Government  1,159,027  1,149,177  1,230,726  (9,850)  (81,549)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits  (73,626)  (63,373)  (71,793)  10,253  8,420
Supplies and services 11 L  (552,007)  (427,669)  (519,639)  124,338  91,970
Grants and subsidies 12 M  (213,195)  (289,890)  (251,228)  (76,695)  (38,662)
GST payments on purchases  (147,054)  (170,451)  (149,346)  (23,397)  (21,105)
Receipts
Sale of goods and services 13  72,688  117,818  128,704  45,130  (10,886)
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 N  855,298  622,698  772,639  (232,600)  (149,941)
Interest received  10  4,782  5,630  4,772  (848)
GST receipts on sales  11,808  16,290  20,225  4,482  (3,935)
GST receipts from taxation authority  135,000  153,175  128,100  18,175  25,075
Other receipts  10,907  9,357  12,745  (1,550)  (3,388)
Rent received  3,200  3,788  3,575  588  213
Net cash provided by/(used in) 
operating activities  103,029  (23,475)  79,612  (126,504)  (103,087)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets  (17,855)  (16,652)  (15,225)  1,203  (1,427)
Purchase of infrastructure assets O  (1,315,026) (1,264,488)  (1,038,819)  50,538  (225,669)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets  –  6,400  3,387  6,400  3,013
Net cash provided by/(used in) 
investing activities (1,332,881) (1,274,740) (1,050,657)  58,141  (224,083)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of borrowings  –  –  –  –  – 
Net cash provided by/(used in) 
financing activities  –  –  –  –  – 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  (70,825)  (149,038)  259,681  (78,213)  (408,719)
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period  437,638  534,801  275,120  97,163  259,681
Cash balance transferred to Other State 
Agencies  –  –  –  –  – 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD  366,813  385,763  534,801  18,950  (149,038)
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Major Estimate and Actual (2019) Variance Narratives
1	 Supplies and services underspent by $126.3 million (22.6%) due to adjustments to the progress of the Royalties for 

Regions program, Commonwealth’s Heavy Vehicle Safety and Productivity Program, Outback Way, Broome-Cape 
Leveque and Stephenson Avenue works.

2	 Funding is provided to Local Governments under the WA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery arrangements. During 
2018-19, Local Governments revised the estimated damage and actual payments increased by $90 million (AGRN743 – 
Flooding in Western Australia). A new model (Determination) came into effect on 1 November 2018 to strengthen the 
Local Governments estimating processes.

3	 Other expenses was underestimated by $57.0 million (165.4%) due to the retirements of Great Northern Highway 
– Wyndham Spur and Maggie’s Jump Up, Miling Straight , Bow River Bridge and a part of the Gibb River Road-Derby 
Highway to Blina.

4	 Commonwealth grants and contribution was lower than budgeted by $232.6 million (27.2%) mainly due to delays in 
Major Works projects including Great Northern Highway – Muchea to Wubin, the New Norcia Bypass, Mitchell Freeway – 
Hutton to Cedric Street and Reid Highway – Altone Road to West Swan Road.

5	 Grants from other bodies was underestimated by $74.0 million (175.5%) mainly due to the transfer of ownership of the 
Warrida road and the Marble Bar realignment undertaken by Roy Hill Mining.

6	 Other funds received from State Government was above budget by $64.6 million (46.3%) mainly due to an increase in 
receipts under the state’s WANDRRA program (AGN743-Flooding in Western Australia).

7	 Property, plant and equipment was overestimated by $103.9 million (20.4%) mainly due to optimistic land and building 
price estimates.

8	 Infrastructure was overestimated by $1.9 billion (4.2%) mainly due to overestimated capital expenditure and 
infrastructure asset revaluation gain.

9	 Reserves was overestimated by $2.1 billion (7.2%) during 2018/19 which was offset by the overestimate in the 
infrastructure assets, mainly due to a high estimated price of infrastructure and land under roads.

10	 Royalties for regions was overestimated by $31.1 million (31%) due to reduced funding received as a result of a delay 
in works including, Local Government Commodity Freight Route, Square Kilometre Array, Albany Ring Road and on the 
Coolgardie-Esperance Highway.

11	 Supplies and services was underspent by $124.3 million (22.5%) due to slower progress of the Royalties for Regions 
program, Commonwealth’s Heavy Vehicle Safety and Productivity Program, Outback Way, Broome-Cape Leveque and 
Stephenson Avenue works.

12	 Main Roads provides funding to Local Governments under the WA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery arrangements. 
During 2018-19 Local Governments revised the estimated damage and actual payments increased by $90 million 
(AGRN743 – Flooding in Western Australia) above the February 2018 estimates. A new model (Determination) came into 
effect on 1 November 2018 to strengthen the Local Governments estimating processes.

13	 Sale of goods and services were above expectations by $45.1 million (62.1%) mainly due to unbudgeted third party 
funding of the Great Northern crossing – Iron Ore Bridge, Armadale road upgrade and Nicholson Road Rail works.

14	 Commonwealth grants and contributions decreased by $232.6 million (27.2%) due to delays in major infrastructure 
works including Great Northern Highway – Muchea to Wubin and the New Norcia Bypass, Mitchell Freeway – Hutton to 
Cedric Street and Reid Highway – Altone road to West Swan Road.
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Major Actual (2019) and Comparative (2018) Variance Narratives
A	 Supplies and services decreased by $89.0 million (17.1%) mainly due to Main Roads’ transition into the new forms of road 

maintenance contracts with lower comparable contract rates.

B	 Depreciation expense of infrastructure increased by $29.7 million (8.6%) mainly due to higher value of depreciable assets 
capitalised in this financial year.

C	 Funding is provided to Local Governments under the WA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery arrangements. During 
2018-19 Local Governments revised the estimated damage (AGRN743 – Flooding in Western Australia) which resulted an 
increase in expense by $63.6 million (23.7%).

D	 Other expenses increased by $40.0 million (77.7%) due to retirement of old infrastructure assets which has been 
replaced by the new ones. New projects include Great Northern Highway Wyndham Spur and Maggie’s Jump Up and 
Onslow Road.

E	 Commonwealth grants and contributions decreased by $149.9 million (19.4%) due to the one off National Partnership 
payment ($226m) received in 2017/18 to support road infrastructure projects.

F	 Contributions to roadworks decreased by $37.8 million (34.9%) due to higher contribution from Public Transport 
Authority in 2017/18 for the construction of the Matagarup bridge.

G	 Grants from other bodies increased by $106.6 million (1095.1%) mainly due to the transfer ownership of the Warrida 
road and Marble Bar road realignment undertaken by Roy Hill Mining.

H	 Service appropriation increased by $87.7 million (15.4%) is mainly due to lower allocation of Capital Appropriation from 
Motor Vehicle License fees compared to previous financial year.

I	 Capital appropriation decreased by $48.6 million (14.5%) is mainly due to lower allocation of Capital Appropriation from 
Motor Vehicle License fees compared to previous financial year.

J	 Natural disaster funds decreased by $43.4 million (44.7%) mainly due to lower number of payments received from 
Department of Fire and Emergency Services compared to previous year.

K	 Royalties for regions decreased by $69.1 million (50.0%) was mainly due to lower number of receipts received from 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development for the funding as some projects reached maximum 
funding (Margaret River Parameter Road, GEH Passing Lanes and Great Northern Highway – Muchea to Wubin).

L	 Supplies and services was decreased by $92.0 million (17.7%) mainly due to Main Roads’ transition into the new forms of 
road maintenance contracts with lower comparable contract rates.

M	 Funding is provided to Local Governments under the WA Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery arrangements. During 
2018-19 Local Governments revised the estimated damage (AGRN743 – Flooding in Western Australia) which resulted an 
increase in funds received by $38.7 million (15.4%).

N	 Commonwealth grants and contributions reduced by $149.9 million (19.4%) mainly due to the one off National 
Partnership payment ($226m) made in 2017/18 to support road infrastructure projects.

O	 Purchase of infrastructure assets increased by $225.7 million (21.7%) as more higher value projects were undertaken 
during this year compared to previous financial year. The projects include NorthLink WA and Armadale Road Duplication.




